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COMPANY PROFILE

1834 Investments Limited (formerly The Gleaner Company Limited) is a locally
incorporated and domiciled holding company for a portfolio of domestic and
international investment assets. The company’s main activity is the management of
its income generating real estate, bond and equity investments, and the
management of its joint venture investment company. The shares of the company
are listed on the main market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange as "1834".

COMPANY DATA

REGISTERED OFFICE BANKERS & INVESTMENT COMPANIES

7 North Street
Kingston, Jamaica

GENERAL MANAGER
Terry Peyrefitte

COMPANY SECRETARY
Shena Stubbs-Gibson

REGISTRAR

SAGICOR BANK JAMAICA LIMITED
28-48 Barbados Avenue

Kingston 5

AUDITORS

KPMG

Chartered Accountants
6 Duke Street, Kingston

ATTORNEYS
PHILLIPSON PARTNERS
48 Constant Spring Road
Kingston 10

PATTERSON MAIR HAMILTON
85 Hope Road, Kingston 6

THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA
(JAMAICA) LIMITED

Scotia Bank Centre
Kingston, Jamaica

JN FUND MANAGERS
2 Belmont Road, Kingston 10

JN BANK
2-4 Constant Spring Road
Kingston 10

NCB CAPITAL MARKETS
The Atrium, 32 Trafalgar Road
Kingston 10

UBS AG
Zurich, Switzerland
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

7 North Street

P.O. Box 40

Kingston

Phone: (876) 922-1834

Email: roxann.smith@gleanerjm.com
Fax: (876) 922-6297

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Stockholders of 1834
Investments Limited will be held at the registered office of the company, 7 North Street, Kingston,
Jamaica, on December 14, 2021 at 10:30 a.m. and will also be streamed live pursuant to an Order
of the Supreme Court dated the 315 day of May, 2021. In light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic
and the measures necessary to reduce its spread, physical attendance at the meeting will be
restricted to comply with the applicable legal protocols and best practices in effect at the time.

The meeting will be held for the following purposes:

1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the twelve months ended March 31, 2021
and the reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

Resolution 1

Resolved that the Audited Financial Statements for the twelve months ended March 31,
2021, together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon be and are hereby
adopted.

2. To consider, and if thought fit, pass the following resolution:-
Resolution 2

Resolved that the interim dividend of four cents (50.04) on each ordinary stock paid
December 11, 2020 to shareholders on record at the close of business on November 24,
2020 be declared final and no further dividend be paid in respect of the year under review.

3. To re-elect Directors who have retired from office in accordance with Article 93 of the
Company’s Articles of Incorporation. The Directors, who have retired from office in
accordance with Article 93 aforementioned are Joseph M. Matalon and Carol D. Archer, and
both have offered themselves for re-election. To consider, and if thought fit, pass the
following resolutions:-

Resolution 3

That Mr. Joseph M. Matalon be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the company;
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Resolution 4
That Prof. Carol D. Archer be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the company;

4, To fix the remuneration of the Directors and to consider, and if thought fit, pass the
following resolution:-

Resolution 5

Resolved that the Directors’ fees agreed and payable for the year ending March 31, 2021
to all non-executive Directors of the company be and are hereby approved.

5. To re-appoint the retiring auditors and to authorise the Directors to determine their
remuneration and to consider, and if thought fit, pass the following resolution:

Resolution 6

Resolved that the retiring auditors, KPMG, Chartered Accountants, having expressed their
willingness to continue as auditors of the company until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting, be and are hereby re-appointed and the Directors be authorised to fix
their remuneration.

6. To transact any other business which may be transacted at an Ordinary General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

U

Shena Stubbs-Gibson
Company Secretary

October 30, 2021

Proxy

In accordance with Section 131 of the Companies Act, 2004, a member entitled to attend and vote
at the above meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him, and such
proxy need not also be a member. A proxy form is included at page 106. When completed the form
should be deposited with the Company Secretary at the registered office of the company, 7 North
Street, Kingston, Jamaica, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the meeting. The
proxy form should bear stamp duty of $100.00.
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Physical Distancing Requirement

Shareholders attending the Annual General Meeting will be required to wear protective face
masks as mandated by the Government to enter the venue or remain therein. Sanitizing and
temperature checks will be required upon entry. The meeting will observe the protocols of
physical distancing in layout and seating. Given the recent orders by the Government of Jamaica
pursuant to the Disaster Risk Management Act, the number of persons that can attend the
Annual General Meeting may be restricted and the company will not be able to accommodate
the physical attendance of shareholders exceeding the established gathering limit.
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
Fellow shareholders,

| am pleased to report that your company closed on its 2020/21 financial year
successfully, despite the many COVID-19 related business and investment
uncertainties persisting throughout the period. For the twelve months to March 31,
2021 your company produced after tax profits of $81 million, or 6.69 cents per stock
unit, doubling last year’s profit performance and recording the second highest profits
in 1834’s five-year history as a standalone investment company. Dividends of $48
million or $0.04 per stock unit were paid to you from the company’s profits during
the period. Stockholders’ equity of $1,510 million at the March 31, 2021 year-end,
equivalent to $1.25 per stock unit, increased 5% year over year. At the end of the
financial year, your stock price had recovered 28% from its prior year-end’s
pandemic driven lows and this growth, together with earnings and dividends paid in
the period, provided a 40% annual return! to 1834 Investments Limited (“1834”)
shareholders.

These positive results evidence your company’s financial and operational resilience,
and are reflective of the quality of your company’s investment assets, and its
prudent management oversight. In the period, 1834 continued to focus on
safeguarding your portfolio of investments, employing cautious liquidity and debt
management. Your portfolio of USD quoted investments, which had been adversely
impacted by the negative investor sentiment prevailing at the start of the financial
year, saw full price recovery by the year-end. Given the open-ended trajectory of the
pandemic and its uncertainties, your company took additional steps over the year to
further mitigate against COVID-19 related risks to the portfolio, re-balancing some
categories of investments. Your company remains well capitalised and strategically
positioned as a result. We maintain a cautiously optimistic outlook and conservative
risk profile for the medium term.

In what has been a particularly challenging year, | wish to express my sincere
gratitude to the Board of Directors for their guidance and engagement, and to the
1834 team for their commitment and diligent efforts steering the company through

1 Annual return includes earnings, dividends and appreciation in the stock price over the twelve months to March 31,
2021. 1834’s closing share price on the Jamaica Stock Exchange was $1.10/share at March 31, 2021 ($0.86/share at
March 31, 2020).
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the pandemic related adversities. 1834 continues to adopt precautionary safety
measures in accordance with guidance from the local health authorities and the
Government of Jamaica. | am proud to report that efforts to safeguard the health of
our 1834 team have been successful.

| also wish to acknowledge and appreciate the contributions of former Director
Morin Seymour, CD, who retired from the Board in May 2021 after 21 years of
service to your company. We are pleased that Mr. Seymour has agreed to extend his
support to the Board via his appointment to a special project committee.

1834 sees encouraging business and investment opportunities on the horizon, and
remains well positioned to take advantage of these. To provide additional focus on
the assessment of the strategic opportunities which have accelerated over the
review period, your company has established a dedicated transaction team. Your
Board is committed to selecting the best opportunities for the future of your
company, which will maximize value to you, the shareholder.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to thank you, our shareholders for
your support. Your company, having demonstrated its resilience in the last financial
year amidst the many uncertainties, looks to the future with optimism. We continue
to wish safety for you and your families, and encourage you to continue to do your
part to accelerate our country’s economic recovery. | look forward to seeing you at
our company’s next Annual General Meeting.

1-\/\/\ , W

Joseph M. Matalon, CD
HAIRMAN

/
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JOSEPH M. MATALON,
CD, B.Sc.

Chairman since July 30, 2020,

Vice Chairman (January 22, 2015 -
July 30, 2020)

Appointed Director October 1987

Mr. Matalon is Chairman of ICD Group Holdings
and a Director of a number of its related compa-
nies including British Caribbean Insurance
Company (BCIC) and West Indies Home
Contractors (WIHCON). Having been a Direc-
tor of Radio Jamaica Limited since 2016, he
was appointed Chairman of that Company in July
2019.

Mr. Matalon served three terms as President
of the Private Sector Organization of Jamaica
(PSQOJ), and was inducted into its Hall of
Fame in 2018. Mr. Matalon also served as
Chaimrman of the Development Bank of Jamai-
ca (DBJ) between 2007 and 2016 and as
Chaiman of the Office of Utilities Regulation
(OUR) between 2016 and 2019.

In 2010, Mr. Matalon was awarded the Order
of Distinction in the rank of Commander (CD).

Mr. Matalon is a member of the Audit Com-
mittee of the Board.

HON. DOUGLAS R. ORANE,
CD,J.P,BSc, MBA, LLD. (Hon)

Vice Chairman since July 30, 2020,
Appointed Director May1998

Mr. Orane is a foormer Chairman and Managing
Director of Grace Kennedy Limited. He is cur-
rently a Director of Radio Jamaica Limited
and also serves on other boards. Mr. Orane
served as President of the Private Sector Or-
ganization of Jamaica (PSOJ) from Decem-
ber 1992 to December 1994 and as Vice Presi-
dent from December 2001 to February 2003.
Mr. Orane was inducted into the PSOJ Hall of
Fame in 2003.

Mr. Orane also served as an Independent
Senator in the Senate from 1998 to 2002
and was appointed a member of the Govemor
General's Privy Council in 2009. In 2002, Mr.
Orane was awarded the Order of Distinction in
the rank of Commander (CD).

Mr. Orane is an industrial engineer and a Jus-
tice of the Peace (JP).

Mr. Orane is the Chairman of the Corporate
Govemance Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee of the Board.
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Appointed Director December 2001

Professor Archer is currently the Coordinator for
Graduate Programmes and Director of Research
and Consultancy in the Faculty of The Built Envi-
ronment at the University of Technology. Previ-
ously she served as Associate Professor and
Dean of that faculty from 2006 to 2015, as Head
of the School of Building and Land Management
from July 2004 to 2005 and as Programme Direc-
tor for the Urban and Regional Planning Pro-
gramme from February 2000 to June 2004.

Professor Archer currently serves or has served
on boards including Radio Jamaica Limited (since
2016), National Housing Trust Technical Sub Com-
mittee, Scotia Jamaica Building Society, University
Council of Jamaica, Town & Country Planning Au-
thority, Natural Resource Conservation Authority
(Deputy Chair), Urban Development Corporation
Subcommittee on Planning and Development, South
East Regional Health Authority (Deputy Chair),
National Chest Hospital (Chair), Council for the Uni-
versity of Technology Jamaica, National Investment
Bank of Jamaica and VWater Resources Authority,
The Wolmer's Trust Board of Management, the
Caribbean Network of Urban Land Managers,
Nature Preservation Foundation Board of the
Hope Royal Botanical Gardens and the Carib-
bean Planners Association.

In August 2021, Professor Archer was appointed
to the Special Advisory Group Enterprise (SAGE)
to the Executive Director of UN Habitat.

Professor Archer is a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Board.

Appointed Director April 2000

Mrs. Johnston is the Comporate Affairs Manager at
Jamaica Producers Group Limited and is the Hon-
orary Consul for the Republic of Costa Rica. She
serves as a director of Radio Jamaica Limited
and the Consular Corps of Jamaica. Mrs. Johns-
ton serves as a Vice President of the Jamaica
Manufacturers’ and Exporters' Association and as
a Trustee of the St. Mary Education Trust. She is
also a member of the Jamaica Trade Policy
Advisory Group in the Ministry of Foreign Affairs
and Foreign Trade, the Food Security & Agibusiness
Council, a joint committee of the Ministry of Agriculture
& Fisheries, the Ministry of Industry, Investment &
Commerce and the private sector, and the Technical
Committee for Legislative Review inthe Office ofthe
Cabinet.

Mrs. Johnston is a former Galo Plaza Fellow at
the Inter-American Dialogue in Washington D.C.

She is a member of the Corporate Govemance
Committee and the Audit Committee of the Board.
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Appointed Director November 2014

Ms. Jones is a retired Senior Partner of KPMG in
Jamaica, former Head of the firm's Tax practice and
past Chair of KPMG CARICOM, a regional govem-
ance entity comprising KPMG member fims in
Barbados, the Eastem Caribbean, Jamaica and
Trinidad and Tobago. She is Chair of The Jamaica
National Group Limited, JN Financial Group Limited,
JN Fund Managers Limited and a Director of JN
Bank Limited and Radio Jamaica Limited.

Ms. Jones has served on several tax reform
committees and was seconded to the Ministry of
Finance between 1989 and 1992 as special advi-
sor to the Minister. Ms. Jones has also served
as Chair of the Trade Board and Fiscal Services
Limited and on the Committee to Review and
Eliminate Waste in the Public Sector. She has
served on a committee to review the Govermnment of Ja-
maica’s tax system, as a member of the Divestment
Committee responsible for the divestment of Govemment
-owned sugar factories, and as a member of the Tax Pok
icy and Tax Administration Working Group under the
Partnership for Transformation Projectin Jamaica.

In 2015, Ms. Jones was awarded the Order of

Distinction in the rank of Commander (CD).

Ms. Jones is a Fellow of the Association of Char-
tered Certified Accountants and a retired Char-
tered Accountant.

Ms. Jones is the Chair of the Audit Committee of
the Board.

Appointed Director July 2020

Ms. Ladd is an independent Attorney-at-
Law practicing in the areas of insurance
law, international finance and general cor-
porate and contract law. She previously
worked with the law firm Myers Fletcher &
Gordon for eighteen years, eleven of which
she spent as a partner. Ms. Ladd has pro-
vided consulting services to USAID, JAM-
PRO and the PSOJ, and served in the U.S.
Foreign Service for six years.

Ms. Ladd holds a B.A. degree from Brown
University, a J.D. degree from Emory Uni-
versity and is qualified to practice law in
both Jamaica and the United States of
America. She was admitted to the Bar in
Georgia (1988), Washington D.C. (1989),
Jamaica (LEC 1989), New York (1990) and
Florida (1990). Ms. Ladd is fluent in Span-
ish, French and German.

Ms. Ladd serves as a Director on various
local and overseas boards including JN
Fund Managers Limited and American
Friends of Jamaica.
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MORIN M. SEYMOUR,
CD, JP, BSc, MBA, FLMI

Appointed Director April 2000 (Retired
May 26, 2021)

Mr. Seymour is former Executive Director of
Kingston Restoration Company Limited and a di-
rector of Kingston Restoration Foundation, Mona
Social Services Company, UWI, Mona Campus
and a member of other Boards, including PALS
Jamaica Limited. He is Chairman of Central Branch
All Age School and a Past President of the Jamaica
American Friendship Association. In 1979, he
obtained the designation of Fellow of the Life Man-
agement Institute from LOMA, USA. He is also the
Chairman of the Jamaica Nominating Committee for
The Anthony N. Sabga Caribbean Awards for Ex-
cellence.

In 1983, Mr. Seymour received a Certificate in
Public Enterprise Policy for developing coun-
tries from Harvard University and in 1995, he was
designated an Eisenhower Fellow. In 1999, Mr.
Seymour received the Governor General's
Achievement Award for Surrey, Jamaica; and in
2003, he was awarded the Prime Minister's Apprecia-
tion Award for Community Development and, ap-
pointed Honorary visiting Fellow of the Joseph C.
Comwall Centre for Metropolitan Studies at Rut-
gers, the State University of New Jersey. In 2004, he
received the Prestigious Alumnus Award from
the Graziadio School of Business and Manage-
ment, Pepperdine University, Califomnia.

In 2011, Mr. Seymour was awarded the Order of
Distinction in the rank of Commander (CD).

0J, CD, JP, BSC, HON. LLD

Appointed Director February, 1975 -
June, 2003, Vice Chairman from Ju-
ly, 2003 — January 22, 2015 and Hon-
orary Chairman since January 23,
2015

Mr. Issa serves as Chaiman of SuperClubs
International Limited and its subsidiaries. In
2005, he received the Trail Blazer Award
from the Jamaica Tourist Board and in 2007,
the Lifetime Achievement Award in Travel and
Tourism - Caribbean World Awards.

He served as a member of the Senate
(1983-1989) and as Chairman of the Jamaica
Tourist Board (1984-1989). In 1999 and 2009,
Mr. Issa was awarded the Honorary Degrees of
Doctor of Laws (Honoris Causa) from the
Northem Caribbean University and the Univer-
sity of the West Indies, respectively. Mr. Issa is
also a trustee of the Bustamante Foundation.

In 1998, Mr. Issa was awarded the Order of
Jamaica and in 1983, he received the Order
of Distinction in the rank of Commander
(CD).

Mr. Issa is a Justice of the Peace and the Hon-
orary Consul of Serbia.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors are pleased to submit their report for 1834 Investments Limited for
the year ended March 31, 2021.

Operating results:
= Profit for the Group before taxation was $87 million (2020: $52 million)
» Net profit attributable to 1834’s stockholders was $81 million (2020: $41 million)
» Earnings per stock unit was 6.69 cents (2020: 3.35 cents)
» Total equity attributable to 1834’s stockholders was $1.5 billion (2020:
$1.4billion)

Dividends
The Directors recommend that the dividend of four cents (50.04) per share paid on
December 11, 2020, be declared as final.

Directors

The Directors of the Company as at March 31, 2021 were:

Joseph M. Matalon, CD (Chairman), Hon. Douglas R. Orane (Vice-Chairman), Prof.
Carol D. Archer, Lisa G. Johnston, Elizabeth A. Jones, CD, Monica Ladd and Morin M.
Seymour, CD.

The Directors to retire by rotation in accordance with Article 93 of the Company’s
Articles of Incorporation are Joseph M. Matalon and Carol D. Archer, but being
eligible will offer themselves for re-election.

Auditors

The company’s auditors, KPMG Chartered Accountants, have expressed their
willingness to continue in office, pursuant to Article 131 of the Company’s Articles of
Incorporation. The Directors recommend their reappointment.

The Directors wish to place on record their sincere appreciation to the management
and staff for their contributions to the company during the year.

On behalf of the Board, dated the 15 day of October 2021
IR

oseph M. Matalon, CD

HAIRMAN

/
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2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000

Turnover 130,026 95,523 55,087 161,396 199,024
Group profit/(loss) before taxation 86,768 51,522 16,683 97,174 102,232
Taxation (charge)/credit ( 5,686) (__10,932) ( 11,137) 15,242) 89,885)
Profit attributable to 1834’s stockholders 81,082 40,590 5,546 81,932 12,347
Ordinary stockholders’ funds:

Share capital 605,622 605,622 605,622 605,622 605,622

Reserves 904,612 832,317 886,691 1,098,431 1,171,724

1,510,234 1,437,939 1,492,313 1,704,053 1,777,346

Deferred tax liabilities 2,353 4,245 17,495 17,910 29,400
Total funds employed 1,512,587 1,442,184 1,509,808 1,721,963 1,806,746
Represented by:

Long-term receivables 16,887 18,658 22,452 26,891 32,055

Other non-current assets and investments 1,261,739 1,063,013 1,016,550 1,328,385 1,405,613

Working capital 233,961 360,513 470,806 366,687 369,078

1,512,587 1,442,184 1,509,808 1,721,963 1,806,746

Stock units in issue at year end (‘000) 1,211,244 1,211,244 1,211,244 1,211,244 1,211,244
Earnings per stock unit [see note (i) below] 6.69¢ 3.35¢ 0.46¢ 6.76¢ 1.02¢
Stockholders’ funds per stock unit [see note (i) below] 124.68¢ 118.72¢ 123.20¢ 140.69¢ 146.74¢
Distributions per stock unit [see note (ii) below] 4¢ 8¢ 10¢ 8¢ 12¢
Exchange rates ruling at the reporting date were:

UK £1 to J$1 199.00 165.49 164.56 176.80 158.72

US$1 to J$1 144.88 133.96 125.02 125.32 128.22

Can$1 to J$1 118.37 93.78 92.98 96.61 96.45

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Financial Summary 2017 - 2021

(1) The calculation of earnings per stock unit and stockholders’ funds per stock unit is based on profit after taxation
attributable to the company’s stockholders and ordinary stockholder’s funds, respectively, divided by the stock
units in issue at year-end.

(i) The calculation of distributions per ordinary stock unit is based on the actual distributions (whether capital or
ordinary dividends) for each year divided by the stock units in issue at year-end.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OVERVIEW

The following Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is intended to help
readers, shareholders and other stakeholders understand the operations and
present business environment of 1834 Investments Limited and its associate
Jamaica Joint Venture Investment Company Limited (collectively the “Group”). The
MD&A provides supplemental information to the Chairman’s report and should be
read in conjunction with the financial statements and accompanying notes
contained therein.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The management of 1834 Investments Limited is responsible for the integrity and
objectivity of the information contained in the MD&A. The information presented
herein was reviewed by the Board of Directors. Management believes the
information presented herein represents an objective review of the Group's
performance over the past 12 months and short-term prospects.

THE BUSINESS

1834 Investments Limited is an investment management company. The Group’s
main activity is the management of its direct investments (real estate, bond and
equity portfolios), and the management of its joint venture (real estate) investment
company. For the financial year under review, your company generated revenue
from interest and dividends paid on its fixed income and equity holdings, rent on
commercial real estate assets, loans and other income-generating contracts. 1834
Investments Limited evolved as a result of the March 2016 merger of the media
operations of the former Gleaner Company Limited with Radio Jamaica Limited
(RJR). The Gleaner Company Limited officially changed its name to 1834 Investments
Limited on March 10, 2016.

THE ENVIRONMENT

Local
The financial year 2020/21 was dominated by public health and economic
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uncertainties related to the COVID-19 outbreak. Jamaica closed fiscal 2020/21 with
a 6.6% contraction in GDP? (2019/20: 2.4% contraction), driven by the ongoing
adverse effects of the pandemic, which was declared by the World Health
Organization in March 2020. The negative GDP outcome resulted mainly from
declines recorded in the hotels & restaurants, wholesale and retail trade,
transportation and services industries due to the impact of restrictive movement
and business measures required over the period to stem the spread of the virus.

Since the onset of the pandemic, the Government of Jamaica (GOJ) has employed a
data driven approach to adjust movement, business and health restrictions in an
effort to optimally balance the adverse economic and public health impacts of the
pandemic. International ratings agency Standard & Poor’s Global upgraded
Jamaica’s economic outlook from negative to stable3, while maintaining the
country’s B+ long-term and B short-term ratings for local and foreign currency debt
respectively, signaling a positive assessment of the country’s economic direction.
While external uncertainties prevail, the ratings upgrade reflects international
investor confidence in Jamaica’s ability to maintain macroeconomic stability and
meet its financial obligations, while pursuing necessary fiscal consolidation alongside
pandemic related health and social spend.

GDP: Year Over Year Change of Value Inflation Performance
(quarterly) (12 month point to point change)
(Constant Prices, Seasonally Unadjusted) ro% 6.1%

20.0% 14.2% 6.0%

4.995-0% 2% 52% 5oy X
oy 9% 4.7%
10.0% : 4.3% 4.3%
0.6% 0.0% 3.8% 3.8%
0.0% —_— - . . 4.0%
_10 O% '24% I 3.0%
' o/ 8.3% 6-6%
20.0% -10.6% 2.0%
-18.4%
-30.0% 1.0%
2019 Q32019 Q42020 Q12020 Q22020 Q32020 Q42021 Q12021 Q2
0.0%

Quarterly GDP Sep-20 Nov-20 Jan-21 Mar-21 May-21 Jul-21

X

Rate (%)
8

=)
S

Source: STATIN Source: BOJ

26.6% year over year contraction in Gross Domestic Product at Constant Prices, Seasonally Unadjusted (Source:
www.statinja.gov.jm)

3 Standard & Poor’s long term local and foreign currency sovereign credit rating B+, Stable — October 2021 (Source:
www.spglobal.com)
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JMD:USD Exchange Rate

147.39
Aug-21 152.10
154.29
Jun-21 148.75
Apr-21 148.74 152.17
144.53

Feb-21 149.93

145.43
Dec-20 141.87

146.06
Oct-20 145.07
JMDS:USS (10 Day Moving Average Buy Rate)
Source: BOJ

International

The declaration of the COVID-19 pandemic triggered a period of extreme volatility
for stock markets worldwide. Investors reacted swiftly and negatively to virus
containment uncertainties and the anticipated adverse global economic and public
health impact. While global stock indices shed up to a quarter of their values at the
end of March 2020, recovery was strong by the year-end. Despite the ongoing
vaccination supply/take-up and variant related uncertainties persisting throughout
2021, international equity markets have rebounded; regaining their COVID related
losses and continuing on an upward trajectory. Expedited vaccine development and
rollout, monetary policy and fiscal stimulus programmes implemented by
governments worldwide to combat the pandemic fallout have contributed to the
investor optimism.

Global Real GDP Growth (Annual Selected Global Stock Index Values
S&P 500 Index == Shanghai Composite Index Euro Stoxx 50 Index
Percent Change) 4,500
[¥F)
8.0% 5 9% 34,000
? 0,
& G'Of 33% 38% 3.6% gy §3500 LM\
% 4.0% -0/ E (=
BN :
S 0.0% =3,000
& -2.0% .
409 2,500 - -
4.0% -3.1% SRR Z2RRRARRKR/RRARIZIIIzI 8w
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021F t 2T T8I IYIATYIELIING
S d s <« = 2 g2 w Oz 0 = uw S < - 4
Source: IMF World Economic Outlook, Source: MarketWatch

October 2021 (F - IMF Forecast)
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OPERATIONS

1834 maintains a lean operational structure with various functions outsourced
where feasible. Your company has a shared services arrangement in place with
former subsidiary company, The Gleaner Company (Media) Limited, whereby
professional support services are accessed for a monthly fee. These services include
legal and company secretarial support, information technology services and
administrative support. Investment advisory, property management and accounting
services are provided by external firms.

Throughout FY 2020/21, your company was forced to navigate the unprecedented
challenges brought on by the COVID-19 pandemic, and made various adjustments to
its operations to manage them. In accordance with guidance from the Ministry of
Health and Wellness Jamaica and the World Health Organization, 1834 took steps to
safeguard its people and operations over the period including:

= Precautionary measures to protect staff including health monitoring, physical
distancing, enhanced sanitization of the workplace and vaccination education
and facilitation. Work from home and flexible work arrangements implemented
early 2020 to minimize exposure continue to the present time.

= |n collaboration with local and overseas investment advisers, 1834 also
monitors business and capital market developments both locally and overseas
to regularly re-assesses its liquidity, capital structure and the risks to the
investment portfolio, making prudent adjustments where deemed necessary.

In general, your company’s business resilience over the review period has been high,
with limited disruption to operations. Your company relies heavily on technology
and the use of electronic files and communication in the usual course of business,
which has facilitated the transition to a virtual operation when needed since the first
quarter of FY 2020/21. However, delays arising from the general restrictions on
movement within Jamaica and overseas, and as a result of workflow, connectivity
and hours of business adjustments implemented by various partners, continue to
impact turnaround times.
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As at March 31, 2021 your Group’s organizational structure was as follows:

Jamaica Joint Venture
Investment Co. Ltd.

(50%)

Manhart
Properties Ltd.

City
Properties Ltd.

Note: 1834’s subsidiary company Selectco Publications Limited was dissolved in FY 2020/21. This subsidiary was
non-operational (consequent upon its media assets being divested to a subsidiary in 2016).

1834 Investments Limited owns real estate and other investments directly, and has
a 50% share in associated company Jamaica Joint Venture Investment Company
Limited. Jamaica Joint Venture Investment Company Limited (JJVI) is the holding
company for two commercial real estate investments at 34 and 40 Duke Street,
Kingston. Your company is a 50% joint venture partner in this real estate holding
company.

JIVI’s subsidiary companies City Properties Limited and Manhart Properties Limited,
own and manage the rental activities of these properties with the oversight of a
property management company.
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DIRECT INVESTMENTS

Your company engages various local and overseas based investment advisors to
actively monitor the foreign markets and to make recommendations which ensure
optimal risk/return. As at March 31, 2021, your company’s directly held investments
were allocated as follows:

. 2021

Portfolio

Summary  J$’000 Portfolio Summary

Real Estate 492,500 38.4% 1.3% ¥ Real Estate

Cash/short 438,489 34.2%

term H Bonds

instruments

Bonds/bond 244,925 19.1% Equities

funds

Equities 88,947 6.9% ® Cash/short term

Loans 16,887  1.3% instruments
Loans

Total 1,281,748 100%

Direct investments totaled $1,282 million (2020: $1,115 million) at the end of March
2021. The portfolio was heavily weighted towards real estate and cash/short term
instruments which accounted for $931 million or 73% of investments at the financial
year-end.

Cash and short-term instruments comprised US dollar repurchase contracts, interest
bearing cash deposits and unit trusts.

Properties held as at the March 31, 2021, year-end were as follows:

\ Property Type Location
Commercial offices 7 North Street, Kingston
Commercial lots 101A, 103, 105 East Street & 66C, 66D John's Lane, Kingston

The commercial property (land and building) located at 7 North Street, as well as the
five vacant lots situated at 101A, 103 & 105 East Street and 66C & 66D John’s Lane
which are utilized for parking are subject to a long-term lease arrangement with
Radio Jamaica Limited (expiring 2030).
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The “Gleaner” Building located at 7 North Street

Bonds and bond fund assets comprised 19% or $245 million of total investments.
Bonds returned income of 7% (USD bonds) on a weighted average cash yield basis,
and were all BBB-/Baa3 rated (investment grade) at year-end. The bond/bond fund
portfolio is represented by a wide mix of foreign corporate issuers of notes with
maturities under 1 year to 9 years out.

The equity portfolio comprised 7% or $89 million of total investments. Equity holdings
represented a widely diversified mix of the stocks of high-quality local and overseas
companies in North America, U.K., Europe and Asia.

Loans represented 1% or $S17 million of the portfolio, and returned income of 4% on
USD balances extended.

SHAREHOLDER RETURN

An interim capital distribution of 4 cents per stock unit was paid on December 11,
2020 to shareholders on record at the close of business on November 24, 2020.
(cents/share)

I m

2014  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Dividends Paid per year
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FINANCIAL RESULTS:

The Group financial highlights and comparatives below are for the twelve months to
March 31, 2021:

‘ FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS: 2021 2020
Profit attributable to shareholders $81 million $41 million
Earnings per share 6.69 cents/share 3.35 cents/share
Total Revenue $130 million $96 million
Total Equity $1,510 million $1,438 million
Book value $1.25/share $1.19/share
Closing Share price (March 31) $1.10 $0.93
Dividends paid $0.04/share S0.08/share
Dividend yield 4% p.a. 9% p.a.
INCOME STATEMENTS

Your company recorded group profits of $81 million after tax from its consolidated
operations in real estate and investments over the 12 months to March 31, 2021
(2020: $41 million). Earnings of 6.69 cents/share (2020: $3.35 cents/share) were
driven by interest income, foreign exchange gains, revaluation gains on investment
property, and share of profit from the company’s interest in its Associate.

REVENUE

The Group generated revenues of $130 million for the 12 months to March 31, 2021
(2020: $96 million) an increase of $34.5 million or 36% over the prior year.

FY 2021 Revenue (J$ '000)

$25,075

Operating income IS 521,001

$47,701

e IS e 853,532
Fair Value Gain (property) 22207 55,403

FY 2020 ®FY 2021
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OPERATING INCOME

Operating income of $21 million (2020: $25 million) fell S4 million or 16% year over
year due to a combination of reduced rental and interest income. Rental income
declined due to the disposal of a tenanted property (King Street, Montego Bay) in
the prior year, which gave rise to the comparative period reduction. Interest
income was adversely impacted by lower re-investment interest rates on USD
denominated bonds, although offset in part by higher income earned on other USD
instruments.

Operating Income (sources)

8%
14%

78%

Rental & Lease ™ Interest [ Dividend

FAIR VALUE GAIN ON INVESTMENT PROPERTY

During the year investment property (North Street, Kingston) was revalued by
independent appraisers for $492.5 million (2020: $437 million). The associated gains
of S55 million were reflected in income as a fair value gain on investment property.

OTHER GAINS

Other gains of $54 million (2020: $48 million) increased $6 million or 12% year-
over-year due, driven by foreign exchange conversion gains (the JMD dollar
depreciated 8.2% over the review period). With the exception of local real estate,
the investment portfolio was over 90% USD denominated at the March 31 2021
year-end.
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EXPENSES

Group expenses of $60 million (2020: $88 million) decreased $28 million or 32%
year-over-year. The company continued to manage costs carefully and was
successful in reducing or holding constant, most categories of expenses.

ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Administration expenses of $28.4 million (2020: $19.6 million) increased $8.8
million or 45%. Disposal losses contributed to the year-over-year variance, offset
by cost reductions recorded for various other expense categories including
Depreciation, Repairs/Maintenance, Director’s fees and Office Expenses.

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Other Operating Expenses of $33.2 million (2020: $63.5 million) declined $30.3
million or 48%. The reduction was driven by the reversal of a tax provision of $12

million, which was implemented in the comparative period, as well as reductions in
several expense categories including other Professional fees and Utilities.

FY 2021 Expenses (J$ '000)

$63,573
$33,232
$28,417
$19,623
FY 2021 FY 2020
M Administration expenses Other operating expenses
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SHARE OF PROFIT FROM INTEREST IN ASSOCIATE

The Group recognized a share of profit from interest in associate (before taxes) of
$18 million (2020: S47 million), a reduction of $28.4 million or 61%. The decline
was attributed to the longer period (27-months) profits recorded for the associate
in FY 2019/20, versus the current 12-months profits recognized. A 27-month
compilation of the associate’s accounts was done last year to bring the associate’s
accounts up to date and in line with the Group’s March 31 year-end.

TAXATION

The taxation charge for the year amounted to S6 million (2020: $11 million). During
the period your company filed Appeals with the Revenue Appeals Division (“RAD”),
objecting to Tax Administration Jamaica (“TAJ”) assessments related to its 2010
financial year. The revised assessments totaled $50.9 million.

The Appeals were successful, and the RAD confirmed the decision to discharge the
assessments against the company in November 2020. As a result, taxation
provisions of $13.77 million which were included in the comparative period, were
reversed as at March 31, 2021.

EPS (cents per stock unit)
$8.00
?700 $6.76 $6.69
$6.00
$5.00
$4.00
$3.00

$2.00

$1.00 $1.02

$0.46

FY 2017 FY 2018 FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021

25|



@ 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

INVESTMENTS
LLLLLLL

GROUP STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

Total assets of $1,660 million (2020: $1,498 million) increased $162 million, or 11%
year-over-year. Assets were largely (over 75%) comprised of real estate and liquid
investments.

FY 2021 Assets (J$ '000)

$1,800,000
$1,600,000
$1,400,000 -
$1,200,000 -
$1,000,000

$800,000

$600,000 $1,278,626

$400,000

$200,000
S-

$1,081,671

FY 2021 FY 2020

Non-current ™ Current

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Non-current assets of $1,279 million (2020: $1,082 million) increased $197 million
or 18% year-over-year. The increase was driven by additional USD investments
acquired in the period, as well as the recovery in investment portfolio valuations
relative to the prior financial year-end’s lows (which were driven by COVID-19
related bond and equity market sell-offs). Re-valuation of the North Street
commercial property also added $55 million to the carrying value of investment
properties.

26 |



@ 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

INVESTVENTS
LLLLLLL

CURRENT ASSETS

Current assets of $382 million (2020: $416 million) decreased $34.6 million or 8%.
The decline was driven by a reduction in cash, as funds were deployed for the
acquisition of new investments. The reduction was offset in part by increased short-
term investment balances (“Securities purchased under resale agreements”) which
grew $34 million, or 12% year over year.

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Total liabilities of $150 million (2020: S60 million) represented 9% of the Group’s
total liabilities and equity. Current liabilities increased during the year as a result of a
short-term USS$750,000 loan facility. The loan proceeds were channeled into new
investment acquisitions.

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Total equity attributable to the equity holders of 1834 was $1,510 million at year-
end (2020: $1,438 million).

FY 2021 Total Shareholder's Equity (J$ '000)

EY 2020 $1,437,939

Book Value FY 2020: $1.19/share

FY 2021 $1,510,234
Book Value FY 2021: $1.25/share
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Your company is exposed to various business and financial risks including market
risks such as interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk, as well as
legal and regulatory risk, fiduciary or disclosure breaches, technology failure,
financial crime, cyber security threats and environmental risks.

Several of these risks were heightened during the period under review due to the
onset of COVID-19 and related uncertainties.

Your company, however, has a well-established governance structure which
satisfactorily protected against the various financial and operational risks during the
period. The risk management framework and mitigation strategies employed during
the year were considered effective in assessing and managing the Group’s risk
exposure, and continue to be employed.

Your company manages the risk profile of its investments by conducting regular
reviews of its investment portfolio to identify and quantify the various risks and to
set appropriate limits and make adjustments as necessary. Your company also
reviews its operations to assess other risks and to ensure effective policies to
mitigate any adverse outcomes are in place.

Looking Forward

The open-ended trajectory of the COVID-19 pandemic and its attendant
uncertainties continue to impact businesses and investments globally. Your
company considers that while risks to the local economy and wider global economic
landscape are still fairly elevated, they have receded in the last financial year, and
expects that governments around the world will continue to employ
accommodative policies and stimulus measures, subject to their respective
economic conditions and available fiscal space.

1834 sees new and encouraging business and investment opportunities on the
horizon, and remains well positioned operationally and financially to take advantage
of these, to the benefit of our shareholders. Your board remains focused on
safeguarding your company’s current investments, and is committed to maximizing
returns to you, our shareholders.

Your company, having demonstrated its resilience in the last financial year amidst
the many uncertainties, looks to the future with optimism.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
company by directing and overseeing the company’s affairs.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES:

The Board is responsible for:

Providing leadership by setting the corporate policies and strategic aims
of the company and monitoring the achievement of same.

Ensuring that the necessary financial and human resources are in place
for the company to meet its objectives.

Setting the company’s values and standards and ensuring that its
obligations to its shareholders and other stakeholders are understood
and met.

Scrutinizing the performance of management with regards to meeting
agreed goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of
performance.

Deciding on and approving matters to include:

i. Major funding proposals, investments, acquisitions and
divestments including the Group’s commitments in terms of
capital and other resources;

ii. Annual budgets and financial plans of the company;

iii. Internal controls and risk management strategies and
execution; and

iv. Appointment of directors, including the Managing Director.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

As at March 31, 2021, the board comprised seven (7) directors and was chaired by
Joseph M. Matalon, CD. Hon. Douglas R. Orane, CD served in the capacity of Vice-
Chairman and Hon. John J. Issa, OJ, CD continued to serve in the role of Honorary
Chairman. All seven (7) directors were non-executive directors and five (5) were
considered independent.

In determining whether a board member is independent, the board considers
whether there are circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect,
the member’s judgment and thereby independence. A director is not considered
independent if the director:

° has been employed to the company within the last three years;

° has, or has had, within the last three years, a material business relationship
with the company either directly, or as a partner, major shareholder, director
or senior executive of a body that has had such a relationship with the

company;

° has direct family ties with any of the company’s directors, senior executive, or
any of the company’s advisors;

° has participated or participates in the company’s share option, or any of the
company’s performance-related pay schemes within the last three years;

° has received or receives from the company, remuneration additional to a
director’s fee; or

° represents a significant shareholder in the company.

BOARD SUCCESSION

All directors are subject to election by shareholders at the first opportunity after
their appointment, and to re-election thereafter at intervals in keeping with the
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company’s articles. Subject to re-election/election, directors appointed to the board
may serve on the board until he or she attains the age of seventy-five (75) years.

BOARD COMPENSATION

The shareholders determine the remuneration of the non-executive directors within
the guidelines set out in the Articles of Incorporation. Executive directors receive no
remuneration.

The level of compensation of directors aims to reflect the time, commitment and
responsibilities of the role and consists of a package appropriate to attract, retain
and motivate directors of the quality required.

BOARD EVALUATION

The Group completed a Board Evaluation in 2020/21 in the form of a written survey.
The exercise was internally driven by the Corporate Governance Committee and the
results indicated general satisfaction with the board’s performance. The findings
were shared with the board and recommendations to strengthen board performance
were discussed and implemented.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Five Directors’ meetings were held from April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021, as follows:
2020: July 30, November 9, November 23 and December 18.
2021: February 25.

The meeting attendance by the directors and the Honorary Chairman is reflected in
the Table below.

ATTENDANCE RECORD FOR
1834 BOARD and COMMITTEE MEETINGS April 2020 to March 2021

Joseph M. Matalon, CD (Chairman) 2 6
Hon. Douglas R. Orane, CD (Vice-Chairman) 2 6
Professor Carol D. Archer 2 -
Lisa G. Johnston 2 6
Elizabeth A. Jones, CD 6

Monica Ladd
Morin M. Seymour, CD
Hon. John J. Issa, OJ, CD (Honorary Chairman)

(2NN O, O G, RO RO Ny
1
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COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

To ensure that specific issues are subject to in-depth and timely review, certain
functions have been delegated to various Board committees, which submit their
recommendations or decisions to the Board. The committees constituted by the
Board include: the Corporate Governance and Nomination Committee, and the Audit
Committee, both of which are described briefly below:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The purpose of this committee is to strive to achieve global corporate governance
best practice standards. The members of the committee as at March 31, 2020 were:

Hon. Douglas R. Orane, CD (Chair)
Professor Carol D. Archer
Lisa G. Johnston

The committee assists the Board with:

e Organizing and executing the annual review of the Board’s performance and
the performance of individual directors.

e Establishing, monitoring, reviewing and recommending to the Board, the
corporate governance policies and procedures by which the Company and the
Board shall be guided.

e The promotion of high standards of corporate governance based on the
principles of openness, integrity and accountability, taking into account any
existing legal and regulatory framework to which the Company may be
accountable.

e Keeping up to date on corporate governance developments so as to ensure the
Group’s governance practices are in line with best practices.

e Monitoring and reviewing issues regarding the Company’s conduct of its
business as a responsible corporate citizen and to this end, review and revise
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(and where necessary, create) existing ethical standards, rules, codes of the
Company for compliance with best practices, for the approval of the Board.

e Reviewing the composition, operation and effectiveness of the Board
committees and to this end, make recommendations to the Board to enhance

performance and effectiveness.

e Seeing to the development and implementation of a Board induction process
which includes ensuring the orientation of new Directors and appropriate
training for all Directors.

e Ensuring systems are in place to bring possible conflicts of interest of Directors
and related party transactions to the attention of the Board, and in addition,
to make relevant proposals to the Board in accordance with the Company’s
corporate governance code.

e The nomination of new Directors and review of the existing Directors.

e Reviewing, at regular intervals and at least once a year, the Company’s
succession plan in respect of senior executive positions within the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
The Corporate Governance Code can be found on the Company’s website at:

http://1834investments.com/pdf/1834investments-corporate-governance-code.pdf

34|


http://1834investments.com/pdf/1834investments-corporate-governance-code.pdf

gﬂ 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

INVESTVJENTS
LLLLLLL

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the board reviews financial performance and budgets,
assesses operational risk and mitigation plans, and makes recommendations to the
board for its decision.

The members of the committee as at March 31, 2021 were:

Elizabeth A. Jones, CD (Chair)
Lisa G. Johnston

Joseph M. Matalon, CD

Hon. Douglas R. Orane, CD

The roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include:

° Monitoring the financial objectives of the Company and Company’s financial
performance.

° Ensuring that the Company is compliant with the relevant reporting standards.

° Making formal financial announcements relating to the Company’s financial
performance.

° Reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence, objectivity and

effectiveness of the audit process, taking into account relevant Jamaican and
International professional and regulatory requirements.

° Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
functions.
° Considering, approving and recommending to the Board, the Group’s annual

operating and capital budgets.
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Chartered Accountants
P.O. Box 436

6 Duke Street

Kingston

Jamaica, W.I.

+1 (876) 922 6640
firmmail@kpmg.com.jm

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of
1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of 1834 Investments Limited (“the
company”) comprising the separate financial statements of the company and
the consolidated financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries (“the
group”), set out on pages 45 - 103, which comprise the group’s and the
company's statements of financial position as at March 31, 2021, the group’s
and the company’s income statements, statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the group and the company as at March 31, 2021,
and of the group’s and the company’s financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and the Jamaican Companies Act.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants including International Independence
Standards (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KPMG, a Jamaican partnership and a member firm of the KPMG R. Tarun Handa

global organization of independent member firms affiliated with Cynthia L. Lawrence Nigel R. Chambers ~ Wilbert A. Spence
KPMG international Limited, a private English company limited Rajan Trehan Nyssa A. Johnson Rochetle N. Stephenson
by guarantee. Norman O. Rainford W. Gihan C. de Me! Sandra A. Edwards
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To the Members of
1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not

provide a separate opinion on these matters.

1. Valuation of investment properties

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

The valuation of the group’s
investment properties requires
significant estimation, which is
affected by uncertainty of market
factors, pricing assumptions and
general business and economic
conditions.

See note 4 of the financial
statements.

Our audit procedures in this area
included the following:

e Evaluating the reasonableness of
the valuation methodologies used
by the property appraiser engaged
by management and the fair value
conclusions for the properties at
the valuation date.

e Inspecting the investment
properties to evaluate their
physical condition and
consideration of evidence of
damage or impairment that might
affect the fair value
measurements.

e Assessing the adequacy and
appropriateness of the group’s
investment property disclosures,
including the valuation techniques
and significant unobservable inputs
in accordance with IFRS 13, Fair
Value Measurement.
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To the Members of

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Valuation of investment properties (continued)

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

Our audit procedures in this area
included the following (continued):

e Involving our own valuation
specialist to:

- Assess the suitability of the
report prepared by the
property appraiser employed
by management for financial
reporting purposes;

- Assess whether the report
prepared by the property
appraiser employed by
management meets
International Valuation
Standards Council standards
for valuation reports;

- Assess the appropriateness of
the qualifications and
experience of the property
appraiser employed by
management; and

- Challenging the appraiser’s
key assumptions, including
the state of the current real
estate market conditions, for
appropriateness.
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

2.

Valuation of investments

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

The group’s investments measured at
fair value include corporate and
municipal bonds. These investments
are classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income and
categorised as Level 2 in the fair value
hierarchy.

Valuation of these instruments,
although based on observable inputs,
involves the exercise of judgement
and the use of assumptions.
Management used valuation
technigues which required inputs such
as market yields obtained from
established yield curves.

See note 21(d) of the financial
statements.

Our audit procedures in this area
included the following:

e Challenging the reasonableness of
yields/prices by comparison to
independent third-party pricing
sources.

¢ Involving our own valuation
specialists to determine/obtain
yields/prices of specific securities
and comparing these to those
used by management; and

e Challenging the adequacy of
disclosures including the degree
of estimation involved in
determining fair values.

Expected credit loss on financial assets

Key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

The determination of expected credit
losses (‘ECL') on financial assets is
highly subjective and requires
management to make significant
judgement and estimates.

We therefore determined that the
impairment of other receivables and
investments has a high degree of
estimation uncertainty.

Qur audit procedures in this area
included the following:

e  Obtaining an understanding of
the models used by
management for the calculation
of expected credit losses,
including governance over the
determination of key
judgements.
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

3. Expected credit loss on financial assets (continued)

Key audit matters

How the matter was addressed in our
audit

The key areas requiring greater
management judgement include the
identification of significant increase in
credit risk (‘SICR’), the determination
of probabilities of default, loss given
default, exposures at default and the
application of forward-looking
information.

Significant management judgement is
used in determining the appropriate
variables and assumptions used in the
ECL calculations, which increases the
risk of a material misstatement.

These estimates involve increased
judgment as a result of the economic
impact of COVID-19 on the group’s
financial assets.

Management considered the
following:

¢ Qualitative factors that create
COVID-19-related changes to
SICR.

e Increased uncertainty about
potential future economic
scenarios and their impact on
credit losses.

See note 21(a) of the financial
statements.

Our audit procedures in this area
included the following (continued):

e  Testing the completeness and
accuracy of the data used in the
models to the underlying
accounting records on a sample
basis.

e Involving our financial risk
modelling specialists to evaluate
the appropriateness of:

- the group’s impairment
methodologies, including the
SICR criteria used and
independently assessing the
assumptions for probability of
default, loss given default
and exposure at default; and

- the group’s methodology for
determining the economic
scenarios used and the
probability weightings applied
to them. We also tested to
external sources, a sample of
economic variables used.

e  Assessing the adequacy of the
disclosures of the key
assumptions and judgements for
compliance with IFRS 9.
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report for the year ended
March 31, 2021, but does not include the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The annual report is expected to be made available to
us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those
charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the Jamaican Companies Act,
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the group and the
company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the company's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of
1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements is included in the Appendix to this auditors’ report. This
description, which is located at pages 43 - 44, forms part of our auditors’
report.

Report on additional matters as required by the Jamaican Companies Act

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, so far as
appears from our examination of those records, and the financial statements,
which are in agreement therewith, give the information required by the
Jamaican Companies Act in the manner required.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’
report is R. Tarun Handa.

KPMG/

Chartered Accountants
Kingston, Jamaica

July 15, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (Continued)

To the Members of
1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ Report

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company's/group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management'’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (Continued)

To the Members of
1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also
(continued):

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED
MARCH 31, 2021

Statements of Financial Position

NOTES GROUP COMPANY
2021 2020 2021 2020
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Assets
Property, plant and equipment ¥ 784 2,139 784 2,139
Investment properties 4 492,500 437,097 492,500 437,097
Long-term receivables 5 16,887 18,658 16,887 18,658
Interest in associate 6 333,261 344,623 54,448 53,235
Investments 7 435.194 279.154 435,194 279.154
Total non-current assets 1.278.626 1.081.671 999.813 790.283
Cash and cash equivalents 8 34,272 110,576 25,794 104,183
Securities purchased under resale
agreements 9 302,895 269,281 302,895 269,281
Other receivables 10 28,945 24,650 41,834 37,750
Taxation recoverable 15,678 11,920 15.678 11,920
Total current assets 381,790 416427 386,201 423.134
Total assets 1,660,416 1,498,098 1.386.014 1,213,417
Equity
Share capital 11 605,622 605,622 605,622 605,622
Reserves 12 904,612 832317 628.296 545.721
Total equity attributable to equity holders
of parent 1,510,234 1.437.939 1.233.918 1.151.343
Liabilities
Deferred tax liability,
being total non-current liability 13 2.353 4,245 2,353 4,245
Accounts payable 14 39,169 55,914 41,083 57.829
Note payable 15 108.660 - 108.660 -
Total current liabilities 147,829 55914 149.743 57.829
Total liabilities 150,182 60.159 152,096 62.074
Total equity and liabilities 1.660,416 1,498,098 1,386,014 1213417

The financial statements on pages 45 to103 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on July 15, 2021 and signed on its
behalf by:

g \ e ~ /
/\ 1 '

; VAAA \/\_—_—_ Chairman /{ [M&‘G}%\ A\V\V\ ;_/ ifector
J(bseph M. Matalon, C.D. Eliza@ A. Jones, C.D.
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nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED
MARCH 31, 2021

Income Statements

NOTES GROUP COMPANY
2021 2020 2021 2020
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Revenue
Operating income 16(a) 21,091 25,075* 45,504 25,075%
Fair value gain on investment property 4 55,403 22,747 55,403 22,747
Other gains 16(b) 53.532 47.701%* 53.532 47.701%*
130.026 95.523 154.439 95.523
Administration expenses ( 28,417) (19,623) ( 28,417) (19,623)
Other operating expenses ( 33,232) (63,573) ( 33,232) (59,318)
Impairment gain/(loss) 1,204 (_5.097) 1.204 (_5,097)
17 (_60.445) (88,293) (_60.445) (84,038)
Profit from operations 69,581 7,230 93,994 11,485
Finance costs (  956) ( 373) ( 945) ( 340)
Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries 22 - ( 1,896) - ( 5,604)
Share of profit from interest in associate 6 18.143 46,561 - -
Profit before taxation 86,768 51,522 93,049 5,541
Taxation charge 18 (__5.686) (10,932) (___280) (_3.533)
Profit for the year _81,082 40,590 92,769 2,008
Dealt with in the financial statements of:
Parent company 92,769 2,008
Subsidiaries - ( 580)
Associate 6 12,737 39,162
Intra-group dividends and distributions (_24.424) -
81,082 40,590
Earnings per stock unit:
Based on stock units in issue 19 6.69¢ 3.35¢
Excluding stock units in GCLEIT 19 6.89¢ 3.45¢

* Reclassified to conform with current year presentation (see note 16).

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED
MARCH 31, 2021

Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

NOTES GROUP COMPANY
2021 2020 2021 2020
$°000 $000 $°000 $:000
Profit for the year 81,082 40,590 92,769 2,008

Other comprehensive income (OCI):
Item that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Net gains/(losses) on investments in equity securities
designated at fair value through OCI (FVOCI) 25,125 (11.481) 25,125 (11.481)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value adjustments on debt securities at fair value

through OCI (FVOCI) 13,131 10,659 13,131 10,659
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year,
net of taxation 38.256 (822 38,256 (__822)

Total comprehensive income for the year 119,338 39,768 131.025 1,186
Dealt with in the financial statements of:

The company 131,025 1,186

Subsidiaries - ( 580)

Associate 6 12,737 39,162

Intra-group dividends and distributions (_24.424) -

119.338 39,768

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

Balances as at March 31, 2014

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the vear
Other comprehensive loss for the year:
Fair vulue adjusiments on debt seournnes al FYVOCT
WNet [nsses on investments in equity securities designared
al fair value through (1

l'etal ether comprehensive loss for the year, net of taxation
Total comprehensive profit for the year, net of taxation

‘Transfer on liquidation of whelly owned subsidiaries
Trmslers

Transactions with ownoers, recorded directly in equity:
l'etal distributions to owners (note 20}

Balanves as ut March 31, 2020

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profif for the vear
Other comprehensive income for the vear:
Fair value adjustments on debt securities aL PV
Net losses on imvestments ineyquily seeurifies designated
at fair value through GC1

Tolal ather vomprehensive incoms for the yvear, net of laxation

Total eomprehensive incame for the year, net of taxation

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equ
Total distributions o owners (note 20)

Balances as at Maveh 31, 2021

The accompanying notes form an infezral pant of the Anancia] statcmonls,

1834 INWNESTMENTS LIMITED
MARCH 31, 2021

Group Statement of Changes in Equity

Share Capital Fair value Reserve far Retained Total
capital resErves rESErves own shares profits enquity
S0 F 000 bl (111 S0 5004 000
O3 622 341244 4,823 (34.573) 376,493 1492313
- - - - 40,590 40.590
- - 10,650 - - 10,659
- - (11,481 - - [
- - (823} - - § by
- - [__822) - 40,590 39.768
. {157 - - 157 -
- {18,002) - - 18,002 -
. {_18.159) - - 18,159 -
- {94142} - - ( 94.142)
alE,622 427,943 4,003 (34,873) 435244 1.437.939
- - - - 21,082 31082
- - 13,131 - - 13,131
- - - - 23,123 - - 25.125
- - 38,256 - - 38,256
- - I8 256 - H1,082 118,338
= —_— - {_47.043) (47043
605,622 427,943 42,259 (34,873) 469,283 1,510,234
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED
MARCH 31, 2021

Company Statement of Changes in Equity

Share Capital Fair value Retained Total
capital reserves  reserves profits equity
$’000 $’000 $°000 $°000 $’000
Balances at March 31, 2019 605.622 540,244 4,825 96.366 1,247,057
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - - 2.008 2.008
Other comprehensive loss:
Fair value adjustments on debt securities at FVOCI - - 10,659 - 10,659
Net losses on investments in equity securities designated
at fair value through OCI - - (11.481) - (__11.481)
Total other comprehensive loss for the year, net of taxation - - (__822) - ( 822)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of taxation - - (__822) 2.008 1,186
Transfers - (_15.244) - 15,244 -
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Total distributions to owners (note 20) - (_96,900) - - (__96.900)
Balances at March 31, 2020 605,622 428,100 4,003 113.618 1.151,343
Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year - - - 92,769 92,769
Other comprehensive gain:
Fair value adjustments on debt securities at FVOCI - - 13,131 - 13,131
Net gains on investments in equity securities designated
at fair value through OCI - - 25,125 - 25,125
Total other comprehensive income for the year, net of taxation - - 38.256 - 38,256
Total comprehensive profit for the year, net of taxation - - 38.256 92,769 131,025
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity
Total distributions to owners (note 20) - - - (_48.450) (__48.450)
Balances at March 31, 2021 605,622 428,100 42,259 157,937  L.233.918

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

MARCH 31, 2021

Statements of Cash Flows

NOTES Giroup Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
Fon 000 SH000 b (1111
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the vear B1.082 40,590 92,709 2,008
Adjusrments to reconcile profiti{loss) to net cash
provided i used by operaling activifies:
Depreciation 3 1,335 3861 1.335 3,961
Ineome tax 18(ai) 7,578 24182 2,172 16,743
Dfimred [naeation LByl (1,892) (13,2500 LEOZ) o 13.250)
Interest income 16{a) { 16,329) {1R908) (16,3291 { 1H,908)
Inlerest expense D56 373 945 340
Increasc in fair value of investment propertics {35,403 (22747 (55403 (22,747
Impairment {gain)loss 17 { 1,204) 5097 {1,204 3,097
Shiure of profl of asseciate, net of wx f { 12,737 { 39,162) - -
Ciain on disposal of assets held for sale - { 5.009) - i 5.999)
1ass on sale ol bornd 11,126 I W2 11,126 1.R852
Gain on sale of pension asscts - {19.466] - [ 19.466)
Loss on liquidation of subsidiaries = 1.896 - 3,604
Inerease in the Tir value ol umis i 2,588) { i (2588 369
11,744 { 40.950) 075 | 44,004
Tax paid {11,335 (13,0400 (593 | 57413
Inlerest puid { 254 { 373 [N I | 30
1ividend received, net 17,672 - 26,773 -
Chther receivables {4,4%3) ( 2B39Y [ 4282 7.0EZ)
Accounts payable (_16.745) 17.542 {_16,745) 17.501
Mol cash used in operaling acliviltics S.BET {_39,760) 20622 39.606)
Cash flows from investing activities
Tnlerest received 16,699 17,787 16,649 17,787
Inlerest in associles { 1,213) - o L213) -
Additions to property, plant and equipment - { 39 - i i
Procueds rom sale ol sssets held for sule - 101812 - 101,812
Proceeds from sale of bonds 31.540 68233 31.5340 68,233
Securities purchased under agreement for resale { 33.597) { TE032) (3335971 [ Te052)
Proceeds Tom seitlement of pension unils - 59,173 - 50173
Investments, net {136,679 (197061 (13606791 ( 19,765)
Long-lerm receivahle I A2 JORY 1,802 3083
Dividends ingomse (_ 2.360) - 26,773 -
MNet cash {used inkprovided by investing activities {143, 508) 154,231 (1682217 154,232
Cash flows from financing activity
Listributions 20 {47.043) (941421 [ 484300 [ 96,900)
Proceeds ol nole payable 108,660 - 108,660 -
Net eash provided by/(used in) financing activities 61,617 {_594.147) GO0 (_96.900)
Nl (decrense)inerease ineash and cash equivalenls { 76,304) 20,329 [ TR3R0 17,636
Cash and cash eguivalents al beginning ol the year 11,576 a(),247 104,183 Hh,547
Cash and cash couivalents at end of the vear 34272 110,576 25,704 10183

The sccompanying noles form an integral part of the Ansncial statomenls,
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nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31,2021

1. Identification

1834 Investments Limited, formerly The Gleaner Company Limited (“company” or “parent
company”), is incorporated under the laws of, and is domiciled in Jamaica. The company is
listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange and has its registered office at 7 North Street,

Kingston.

“Group” refers collectively to the company, its associate and special purpose entity which

are as follows:

% Ownership
Principal activity registration by Group
Associate:
Jamaica Joint Venture Investment
Company Limited (JJVI) Real estate investment Jamaica 50% Joint venture

Special purpose entity:

Gleaner Company Limited Trust instituted to

Employee Investment Trust acquire shares for

(GCLEIT) the benefit of
employees

100%

JIVI has a 100% sharcholding in Manhart Properties Limited and City Properties Limited

both of which own commercial properties (see also note 6).

The group’s principal activities are the management of real estate and other investments.

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance:

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican

Companies Act (Act).

Details of the group’s accounting policies, including changes during the year are

included in note 25.
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LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2021

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Basis of measurement:

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
investment properties and certain debt and equity securities which are measured at
fair value.

Functional and presentation currency:

The financial statements are presented in Jamaica dollars, which is the functional
currency of the group. Financial information presented is shown in thousands of
Jamaica dollars, unless otherwise stated.

Use of estimates and judgements:

The preparation of the financial statements to conform to IFRS requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of, and
disclosures relating to, assets, liabilities, contingent assets and contingent liabilities at
the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then ended. Actual
amounts could differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate
is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have significant
effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustments in the next financial year are discussed below:

(1)  Critical accounting judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies

For the purpose of these financial statements, prepared in accordance with
IFRS, judgement refers to the informed identification and analysis of
reasonable alternatives, considering all relevant facts and circumstances, and
the well-reasoned, objective and unbiased choice of the alternative that is most
consistent with the principles set out in IFRS.

(1) Classification of financial assets:

The assessment of the business model within which the assets are held
and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount
outstanding requires management to make certain judgements on its
business operations.
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LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

March 31, 2021

2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued):

(i)  Critical accounting judgements in applying the group’s accounting policies
(continued)

2)

3)

Impairment of financial assets:

Establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the
financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition,
determining the methodology for incorporating forward-looking
information into the measurement of expected credit loss (ECL) and
selection and approval of models used to measure ECL requires
significant judgement.

Treatment of joint arrangements

Establishing whether the application of equity accounting is the
appropriate method of measuring and disclosing the group’s interest in
Jamaica Joint Venture Investment Company Limited [See note 25 (a)

(iv)].

(i) Key assumptions and other sources of estimation uncertainty

(M

@)

Impairment of financial assets:

A number of significant judgements are required in applying the
accounting requirements for measuring expected credit loss (ECL), such
as:

e  Determining criteria for significant increases in credit risk;

e  Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement
of ECL;

e  Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking
scenarios for each type of product/market and the associated ECL;
and

e  Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of
measuring ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the
group in the above areas is set out in note 21(a).

Determination of fair values:

The group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy
which reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the
measurements:

o Level | — Inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in an
active market for an identical asset or liability.
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

March 31,2021

2.  Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued):

(i)

Key assumptions and other sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(2)

(€)

Determination of fair values (continued):

Level 2 — Inputs that are other quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued
using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments;
quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are
considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all
significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market
data.

Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based
on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant
effect on the instrument’s valvation. This category includes
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar
instruments where significant unobservable adjustments or
assumptions are Trequired to Treflect differences between the
instruments.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash
flow models, comparison to similar instruments for which market
observable prices exist and other valuation models.

Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to
arrive at estimates of fair values. Consequently, the estimates
arrived at may be significantly different from the actual price of the
instrument in an arm’s length transaction.

The group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value
hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the change
has occurred.

Investment properties:

Investment properties reflect fair value amounts, based on market
information, including valuations done by independent property
appraisers. On the instructions of management, the appraisers have used
valuation techniques such as the direct sales comparison approach and
income approach to determine fair value as detailed in note 4.
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

March 31. 2021

2.

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation {(continued)

(d)

(e

(0

Use of estimates and judgements {continued):
(i) Key assumphions and other sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
(4) Income taxes:

In the ordinary course of the group’s business, it undertakes lransactions,
and is subject to events, the tax effects of which are uncertain, In the face
of such uncertainty, the group makes estimates and judgements in
determining the provision for income {axes.

The final tax oulcome atiribuiable o maticrs subject o such csiimates and
judgements may be materially different from that which is initially
tecagnised.  Any such difference will impact the current and delerred
income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Prior year comparative information has been reclassified to accord with current year
presentation.

Impact of Covid-19

The preparation of the fnancial statcmenis in accordance with TFRS assumes that the
company will continue for the foresesable tuture. This means, in part, that the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the statement of
financial position assume no intention or necessity to liquidate or curtail the scale of
operations. This 15 commonly referred to as the going concern basis, Companies are
required to assess and disclose material uncertainties related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on their ability to continue as a going concern. In
addition, disclosure is required when management concludes that there are no
material uncertainties but reaching that conclusion involved significant judgement.

The Covid-19 outbreak is evolving rapidly, having already seen a number of
significant developments within a relatively short timelrame. These developments
have significant business implications for many entities, as well as related financial
statement clfeets,

Becavse the spread of Covid-19 has wiggered a serics of events rather than a one-ofT
event, the assessment of the severity of the etfects on an entity can vary significantly
depending on the sector and markets thal an entity operates in, as well as the specific
conditions at the time when the assessment is made. As indicated in note 21{a)(ii),
management has considered the impact of the Covid-19 outbreak on its financial
asscls. These estimates invalve inercascd judgmeni as a resull of the ceonomic
impacts of Covid-19 on the group’s financial assets. [nter alia, management has
considercd qualitative factors that create Covid-19 related changes to signiflicant
increase in credit risk (SICR) and increased uncertainty about potential future
economic scenarios and their impact on credit losses, Munagement, supported by its
external property appraiser, also considered the impact of Covid-19 related economic
scenaries on ils inveshment properties and concluded that the going concern basis
continues 1o be appropriaic in the preparaiion of the financial siatemenis,
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

March 31, 2021

3.

Property, plant and equipment

Cost
Balances as at March 31, 2019
Additions

Balances as at March 31, 2020
Additions

Balances as at March 31, 2021

Depreciation
Balances at March 31, 2019
Charge for the year

Balances at March 31, 2020
Charge for the year

Balances at March 31, 2021

Carrying amounts
March 31, 2021

March 31, 2020

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Group and Company

Machinery
and

equipment
$°000

59,271

59,271

59,271

53,210
3,958

57,168
1,351

58,519

Fixtures
and

fittings
$°000

39

32
36

Total
$°000

53,210
3,961

57,171
1,355

58,526
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Notes 1o the Financial Statcments (Continued)
March 31, 2021

4.  Invesiment properties

Group and Company

2021
Building 7 Land 103 Land 105 Land 101A Land 66C Land 66D
North Street Fast Street [ast Street Fast Street John's Lane  John's Lane
Level 3 Level 2 Level 2 Level 2 Level 2 Level 2 Total
5000 3000 000 §'000 $'000 $000 F000
Al April 1 424,672 1.993 3.285 1,871 1,405 1,871 437,097
Fair value gain 53,328 333 883 312 235 312 55,403
Al March 31 478,000 2,326 6,168 2,183 1,640 2,183 492,500
2020
Building 7 Land 103 Land 105 Land 101A Land 660 Land 66D
North Sireei Easi Street Fast Sirect East Strect John's Lane  John's Lanc
Level 3 Level 2 Level 2 Level 2 Level 2 Level 2 Total
$'000 $000 §'000 $'000 $'000 $000 F000
At April 1 402,630 L.8TO 4,977 1,762 1,323 1,762 414,330
Fair valuc gain 22022 116 309 109 82 109 22,747

At Mareh 31 424,672 1,992 5,286 1.871 1,405 1.871 437,097
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Investment properties (continued)

During the year, investment properties generated income and incurred expenses as follows:

Group and Company

2021 2020

$°000 $°000
Income earned from investment properties 2,202 4,413
Expenses incurred on investment properties 498 968

Investment properties with a value of $492,500,000 (2020: $437,097,000) are based on fair
values as at March 31, 2021, determined by professional independent valuators, Allison,
Pitter & Company, who are accredited independent valuators with recognised and relevant
professional qualifications and with recent experience in the locations and categories of the
investment properties being valued. The valuation models, in accordance with those
recommended by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, have been applied and are
consistent with IFRS 13.

The fair values of land and buildings are categorised as level 2 and level 3 in the fair value
hierarchy. The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring fair value
as well as the significant unobservable inputs used.

Class of Fair value Fair value Valuation technique Key unobservable inputs
property 2021 2020
$°000 $°000
Building 7 478,000 424,672 Income based approach « Rental growth (p.a.)
North Street * Voids & letting delays

» Discount rate
+ Net rental value
+ Capitalisation rate

Land 103 2,326 1,992 Market based approach » Conditions influencing the
East Street sale of comparable
properties.

» Comparability adjustment.

+ The potential rental value of
the property in the current
investment climate.

Land 105 6,168 5,286 Market based approach + Conditions influencing the
East Street sale of comparable
properties.

» Comparability adjustment.
» The potential rental value of

the property in the current
investment climate.
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4. Investment properties (continued)

Class of Fair value  Fair value Valuation technique Key unobservable inputs
property 2021 2020
$°000 $°000
Land 101A 2,183 1,871 Market based approach * Conditions influencing the
East Street sale of comparable
properties.

» Comparability adjustment.

« The potential rental value of
the property in the current
investment climate.

Land 66C 1,640 1,405 Market based approach » Conditions influencing the
John's Lane sale of comparable
properties.

» Comparability adjustment.

« The potential rental value of
the property in the current
investment climate.

Land 66D 2,183 1,871 Market based approach » Conditions influencing the
John's Lane sale of comparable
properties.

* Comparability adjustment.
* The potential rental value of

the property in the current
investment climate.

5.  Long-term receivables
Group and Company

2021 2020

$°000 $°000
Loan receivable [US$179,583 (2020: US$179,583)] 26,018 24,057
Less: Current portion [see other receivables (note 10)] ( 8,451) ( 4,688)
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (__680) (__711)

16,887 18,658

Loan receivable represents the balance on a loan due to the company. This loan, which
bears interest of 4% per annum, is secured by real estate. Under the repayment
arrangement, the final payment is due August 2021. However due to the impact of Covid-
19 a twelve-month moratorium was granted to the borrower, with the revised repayment
date being August 2022.
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6.

Interest in associate

The group has a 50% interest in a real estate investment company, Jamaica Joint Venture
Investment Company Limited (JJVI). The 50% share of profit which is recognised in the
current period 15 bascd on the associale’s lafesi available audiled linancial sialemenis for
the vear ended March 31, 2020, updared for significant transactions to March 31, 2021,

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
$000 $000 $*000 $000
Shares at cost 54,448 53.235 54 448 53,235
Group's share of reserves 304,125 201,388 - -
Dividends received (50%) {(_25.312) - - -
333,26 344,623 54,448 53,235

Associate company results recorded in the year ended March 31, 2021, rclated (o the
twelve-month period commencing April 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021 (2020: Twenty-seven
months period ended March 31, 2020),

The following table summarises the financial information of the associate (LIVI), as
included in its own [inancial statcments, after climination of differences in accounting
policies and intercompany transactions,

Group
2021 2020
S000 S000
Percentage ownership interest 50% 50%
MNon-current asscts:
Property, plant and cquipment 1,420 1,771
Investment properties 274,900 266,800
Goodwill on conselidation T11 T11
De from related parties 2,481 3,008
Deferred tax asset 371 548
Loan reccivable - 3,569
Total non-current assets 279 ®k3 276,408
Current asscts:
Trade and other receivables 141,306 113,590
Taxation recoverable 3,149 0l7
Assets held for sale 235,000 235,000
Cash and cash cquivalents 24,192 81,607

Total current assets 403,647 430.%14
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6. Interest in associate (continued)

Non-current liabilities:
Long term loans

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities:
Due to ultimate holding company
Trade and other payables
Taxation payable

Total current liabilities
Net assets
Group share of net assets (50%)

Revenue from operations, being total revenue
Fair value adjustment

Depreciation and amortisation
Administrative expense

Interest expense

Profit before taxation
Group share of profit before taxation (50%)

Income tax charge
Group share of income tax charge (50%) (see note 18)

Net profit

Group’s share of reserves:
Balance as at April 1
Group’s share of current year profit

Balance at March 31

Group

2021 2020
$°000 $°000
(__1.164) (__1,746)
(__1.164) (__1.746)
( 23) ( 23)
( 15,821) ( 12,041)
- (_4.165)
(_15.844) (_16,229)
666,522 689,247
333,261 344,623
90,597 204,173
5,673 33,084
( 351) ( 897)
( 59,170) (140,387)
(___464) (_2.851)
36,285 93,122
18,143 46,561
( 10,812) ( 14,797)
(__5.406) (__7.399)
12,737 39,162
291,388 252,226
12,737 39,162
304,125 291,388
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7.

10,

Invesiments
Group and Company
2021 2020
SO0 SO0
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCT):
Ouoted equities ¥2 Hu7 53,743
Unquaoted cguitics G,050 G,050
Corporate bonds 136,697 85,734
225,644 145,577
Amortised cost:
Certificatcs of deposit 11,302 52,735
[nvestments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL):
Unils in wiit trust 90,020 80,242
Bond funds 108,228 -
435,194 279,154
Cash and ¢ash equivalents
Giroup Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
ST000 2000 £000 SO0
Bank and cash balanccs 34272 110,376 25,794 104, 183

Bank and cash balances are maintained for transaction purposes with reputable
counterpartics, do not altract interest and include USS154,750 (2020: TUS$227,678) for the
group and the company.

Sccorities purchased under resale agreements

The group and the company invest in securities purchased under resale agreements. At the
reporting daie the sceuritics had a carrying amouni of $302,894,829 {2020; $269.281,084},
net of impairment allowance of $1,222, 060 (2020: 51,240,000).

At the reporting date, the fair value of the underlying securities held as collateral tor the
resale agreements was $304, 116,889 (2020 $270,5200,639) for the group and the company.

Other receivables
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
000 5000 $000 000

- 14,308 14,308

Dic from related partics

Other receivables [see (a) below) 23.071 22510 21,652 21,302
Current portion of long-term receivable

(see note 5) 8.451 4688 8451 4,688
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (2577 (2,548 (2577 ( 2,548)

28045 24,630 41,834 37,750
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10.

11.

12.

Other receivables (continued)

{a)  Oiher receivables 18 comprised as follows:

Genetral Consumption Tax (GCT) recoverable

Interest receivable

Other receivables and prepavments

Share capital

Sharc capiial issued and Tully paid:

1,211,243 827 stock units of no par value

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Group Company

2021 2020 2021 2020
5000 $°000 $°000  $000
8,551 8,400 8,551 2400
5,545 5,714 5,545 5,714
8973 H.3HT7 7,556 7179
23,071 22510 21,652 21.302

2021 2020

$'000 $'000
605,622 605,622

At March 31, 2021, the authorised share capital comprised 1,216,000,000 ordinary stock
units {2020; 1,216,000,000). All issued stock units are fully paid. The holders of ordinary
stock units are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to

one vote per stock unit at meetings of the company.

Reserves

Capital
Realised:
Share premium (1)
(Gain on sale of loan (i)

Unrealised:
Revaluation of land and
buildings
Loss on the disposul of subsidiaries

Total capital reserves
Reserve for own shares (iii)
Fair value reserve (ii)
Revenue

Retuined profits

Group Compsany
202 2020 n2i 2020
S 000 5000 $000
4,353 4.353 4,353 4,353
1.334 1.334 1.334 1.334
5.687 5.687 3.687 5.687
422,256 422,413 422,413 422,413
) (__157) : )
422356 422256 422,413 422.413
427943 427943 428100 428,100
{ 34,8731 ( 34.873) - -
2.259 4,003 2.259 4.003
469,283 435.244 157.937 113.618
04612 832317 628,200 545,721

63|



nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Notes (o the Finaneial Statemenis (Continued)
March 31, 2021

12, Reserves (continued)

{1} Sharc premium is retained in accordance with the provisions of Section 39(7) of the
Jamaican Companies Act.

{11} Tair value reserve represents unrealised gains arising on changes in fair value of debt
and equity investmeant securities measured at FVOCL Realised gains on sale of loans
were also translerred 1o realised capital rescrves in prior vears,

{11} Reserve for awn shares is included in the financial staicments by consolidation of The
Cileaner Company Limited Employee Investment Trust (GCLEIT) as it is regarded as a
special purpose entity and 15 required o be consolidated under IFRS 10, The reserve
comprises the cost of the company’s stock units held by the group through the
GCLEIT. At March 31, 2021, GCLEIT held 34,873,148 (2020: 34.873,148) of the
company’s stack units (note 19) at a market value of $39,057,926 (2020: $32,432.028),

13, Deferred taxation

Deeferred taxation is attributable to the following:

Group and Company

2021 2020

5000 F 000
Investmenis 598 602
Unrealised foreign exchange gain (1,900) (3,417
Property, plani and cquipmeni 161 (114
Other receivables (1,212) 1,316
Net liability (2,353) (4,245)

Movement in net temporary differences during the year are as follows:

Group and Company

2021
Balance at Recognised Balance at
April 1, 2020 in profit or loss March 31, 2021

|note 18(a)(ii)|

$000 $’000 5000
Investments 602 S ¥ 598
Unrealised [oreign
exchange gain (3417 1,517 (1,800
Property, plant and
equipment { 114y 275 161
Other recelvables {1.316) 104 1212
(4.245) 1,892 (2,353)
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13. Deferred taxation (continued)
Deferred taxation is attributable to the following (continued):

Movement in net temporary differences during the year are as follows (continued):

Group and Company

2020
Balance at Recognised Balance at
April 1, 2019 in profit or loss March 31, 2020
[note 18(a)(ii)]
$°000 $°000 $°000
Investments 1,605 ( 1,003) 602
Unrealised foreign
exchange gain 3,620 ( 7,037) (3.417)
Property, plant and
equipment ( 1,092) 978 ( 114
Pension fund receivable (20,448) 20,448 -
Other receivables (_1.180) (__136) (1.316)
(17.495) 13,250 (4,245)
14. Accounts payable
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Due to related parties 9,031 16,042 9,031 16,042
Unclaimed dividends 25,691 24951 25,691 24,951
Other payables 4,447 14,921 6.361 16,836

39,169 55,914 41,083 57,829

15. Note payable
Group and Company
2021 2020
$°000 $°000

UBS - Lombard short term loan (i) 108,660 _ -

(i) On March 23, 2021, a loan was obtained from UBS in the amount of US$750,000.
The proceeds were used to finance the acquisition of bonds and bond funds purchased
during March 2021. The loan attracts an interest rate of 1.13% and is repayable on
March 23, 2022. Investments with value of $273,081,660 are held as collateral
security.
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16.

17.

Revenue
(a)  Operating income;

Interest income, calculated using the
effective interest method

Rental income

Dividend imcome

(b} Other gains:

Fair value gain on units in unit trust
Gain on disposal of pension unils
Ciain on disposal of assets held for sale
Realised gain on investments
Unrealised foreign exchange gain
Miscellaneous income

Croup Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
$000 F000 F000 S0
16,529 18,908 16,529 | 8,908
2,202 4,413 2,202 4,413
2.360 1,754 26,773 1,754
21,091 25 (75* 45,504 25 075%
Group and Company
2021 2020
$000 §'000
2588 369
- 19,466
- 5,999
34,101 -
14,171 16,718
2672 5,149
53,532 47 701+

* During the year, dividend income of $52.360,000 (2020: $1,754,000) for the group and
$26,773,000 (2020: $1,754,000) for the company was reclassified from other gains to operating

mcome.

Administration and other operating expenses

Dyircclors” cooluments:
Fees
Management remuneration
Auditors” remuneration
Shared services
Depreciation
Insurance
Professional, legal, accounting and support fecs
Utilities and telephone
Office cxpenscs
Building maintenance
Regstrar services
Jamaica Stock Txchange (JST) fees
Bad debt
Impairment (gains)losses
Loss on disposal of bonds
Irrccoverable G.C.T.
Other expenses and provisions. nel of write-backs

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
SO0 SO0 S0 SHO00

1,033 1,2%1 1.033 1,281
7.500 4,064 7.500 4,064
4,950 4500 4.950 4,500
3,768 3,768 3,768 3,768
1,355 3,961 1.355 3,961
2,233 2427 2,233 2427
21,877 25,232 21877 25,232
652 1,229 652 1,229
&7 271 87 271
88 8035 L 8035
3,685 3,586 3.685 3,586
1,622 2560 1622 2,569
1.655 - 1.655 -
(1204) 5097 ( 1.204) 5,007
11,126 2852 11,126 2,852
2362 3,770 2.362 3,770
(2,344 22,881 (_2.344 18,626
ol 445 BR,293 60.445 84,038

66 |



nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Noies 1o the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2021

18.

149.

Taxation
{a)  Taxation is based on the profit for the year as adjusted for tux purposes and 15 made up as
Fellorws:
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
000 000 S000  Fo0e
(1) Current tax cxpense:
Income tax at 25% B4R 19,803 H48 19803
Income tax in associate (see note 6) 5,406 7,399 - -
Prior year under/{over) provision 1.324 (_3.0240) 1,324 (_3.020)
7.578 24182 2,172 16,783
(il} Deferred tax credit:
Origination and reversal of iming
differences (note 13) (_1.892) (13.250) (1,892) (13.250)
Toal taxaiion charge recognised _ 280 _ 3,533

{by  The tax etfect of differences between treatment of items for financial statements and taxation

purposes arc as follows:
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
$7000 $:000 §7000 $:000
Profit before taxation 86,768 31,522 93,049 5,541
Income tax at 25% 21692 12,841 23,262 1.385
Difference between depreciation and tax
capital allowances 3,503 638 { 630) 774
Diisallowed expenses and other capital
adjustments, net (22.831) 413 {23.676) 4.394
Actual tax charge/(credit) 4,362 13,952 { 1,044) 6,553
Prior year under/{over) provision 1.324 [ 3.020) 1,324 { 3.02(0)
Tax charge 5686 10932 __280 3533
Uncertainty over income tax treabnents:

{c) As at March 31, 2020, management had made a general provision of $13.77 million in
respect of asscssmenis reecived from Tax Adminisiraiion of Jamaica (TAT), which were the
subject of objections filed by the company. During the vear, the company filed an Appeal
with the Revenue Appeals Division (BAD), which was successful, The RAD confirmed the
decision o discharge the assessments againsi the company on November 9, 2020, and the
general provision was reversed as at March 31, 2021.

Earnings per stock unit

The caleulation of carnings per stock unit is arrived at by dividing profit afier (axation atiributable o
stockholders of the company of $81.082.000 (2020: $40.590,000) by 1,211,243,827, being the
number of stock units 1 issuc at March 31, 2021 (2020; 1,211,243,827) as well as by 1,176,370,679
{2020: 1,176,370,679), being stock units in issue less those held by the GCLEIT [see note 12(iii)].
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20.

21.

Dividends paid (gross)

An inierim ordinary dividend of 4 cents (2020: interim capilal disiribution of & cents) per stock unit
was paid on December 11, 2020 (2020: October 4, 201%), to stockholders on record at close of
business oft November 24, 2020 (2019: September 13, 2019),

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
57000 7000 $7000 57000
Distributions:
First inferim declared and paid in respeet of
2021 4¢ (2020 8¢) per stock unit - gross 48,450 96,9010 48.45() 96 900
Allocated to GCLEIT (1407 (_2.758) - -

47,043 94,142 48450 90,900

Financial risk management

The group has exposure o the following risks Trom its use of linancial nstruments: credit risk,
liquidity risk and marker risk.

This notc presents information about the group’s cxposure to cach of the above risks, the group’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative disclosures
arc included throughout these financial stalemenis.

The Buard of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group’s
risk management framework. The group’s risk management policies are established to identify and
analyse the risks Faced by the group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks
and adherence to limits. Risk management paolicies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and the group’s activities.

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the group’s risk
management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the nisk management famework
in relation to the risks faced by the group. The Aundit Committee undertakes both regular and ad
hoe reviews of risk management controls and procedures.

(a)  Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the group it a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails o meet its contractual obligations, and arnses principally from the group’s
receivahles, investments, securities purchased under resale agreements and cash and cash
equivalents,

{1}  Maximum exposure to credit risk
The maximum credit exposure, that is, the total amount of loss the company would

suffer if every counterparty 1o the group’s [inaneial asscls were to defauli at onee, is
represented by the carrying amount of financial assets.
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21.

Financial risk management (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued):

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Management of credit risk
The group manages the credit risk on items exposed to such risk as follows:

. Cash and cash equivalents:

These are held with reputable regulated financial institutions; collateral is
not required for such accounts as management regards the institutions as
strong and financially sound. The financial institutions have a credit

rating of A or above.

. Securities purchased under resale agreements:

Agreements are made only with reputable, regulated counterparties

management regards as strong and financially sound.

Collateral is held for all resale agreements in amounts that cover the
principal advanced and interest expected to be earned over the term of the

agreement.

. Investment securities, loans and other receivables:

The maximum credit exposure, the total amount of loss the group would
suffer if every counterparty to the group’s financial assets were to default
at once, is represented by the carrying amount of financial assets exposed
to credit risk. Exposure to credit risk is managed by regular analysis of the

ability of counterparties to meet repayment obligations.

The Covid-19 pandemic has caused significant market volatility which
has increased the group’s credit risk. The downgrading of credit ratings
and/or outlooks for investment securities held has resulted in an increase

in the credit risk of some debt instruments, loan and other receivables.
Concentration of credit risk
There is no significant concentration of credit risk.

Collateral

The fair value of collateral held for financial assets exposed to credit risk is set

out in note 9.
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21. Financial risk management {continued)

{a) Credit risk (continued)

()

Credit quality analysis
Investments cnd long-term receivables

Credit risk is the single largest risk for the group’s business, Credit risk
management and control is delegated to the Audit Committee. The Committes is
responsible for oversight of credit risk. including formulating credit policics,
establishing the authorisation structure for the approval of credit facilities,
reviewing and assessing credit risk, and limiting concentration of exposure to
counterparties.

The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and
requires the use of models, as the exposure varies with changes in market
conditons, expected cash Nows and the passage of time, The assessment of credit
risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of
defaults vceurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between
counterparties. The group measures credit risk using Probability of Detault (PT2),
Exposure at Default (EAD)Y and Loss Given Default (LGD). This is similar to the
approach used for the purposes of measuring Tixpected Credit Loss (FCL) under
IFRS 4.

Maximum exposure to credit risk and credit quality analysis

The tollowing table sets out information about the maximum exposure to credit
risk and the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised cost and
FYWOCT debt instruments,  Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the
amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts.

[ Debt securities and other financial assets:
Croup and Company

2021 2020
51000 $'000
Amortised cost:
Non-invesiment grade 304117 270,521
Loss allowance ( 1,222)  1,240)
302,805 269,251
Fair value through OCT:
Investment grade 181038 101,815
Non-investment grade 44,606 43,762
225,644 145,577
Fair value through profitl or loss:
Investment grade 108,228 -
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21. Financial risk management {continued)
(a)  Credit risk (continued):
{(v)  Credit quality analysis (continued)
Meaximum exposure to credit visk and credit gualio: onalvsis (contimeed)
«  Long term receivable ab amortiscd cost:

Group and Company

2021 2020
Stage | Stage 1

000 S'000
Pertorming 17,367 149,369
Loss allowance {__ 6RO) {(__711)
Carrving amount 16,887 18,658

The key judgemenis and assumplions adopted by the group in addressing the
requirements of IFRS 9 are discussed below. Also see note 2(d):

Credit visk grades

The group uses external credit ratings provided by rating agencies to assess the
probability of default of individual counterpartics.

For debt securities, external rating agency credit grades are used. These published
grades are continuously monitored and updated. The PD’s associated with each
grade arc determined based on realised defaull raics over the prior 12 months, as
published by the rating agency.

The group considers a debt investment security to have low credit risk when its
credit risk rating is cquivalent 10 the globally understood delinition of ‘invesiment
grade.” The group does not apply the low credit risk exemption to any other
[inancial instruments,

Determining whether credit visk has been increased significanth:

The group uses three critenia for determining whether there has been a signalicant
increase in credir risk:

- quantitative test based on the credit rating of an investment where investments
that are transitioned from investment grade to non-investment grade;

- qualitaiive indicaiors; and

- a backstop of 30 days past due. Days past due are determined by counting the
fumber of days since the carlicst elapsed duc date in respecet of which Tull
payment has not been received. Dhue dates are determined without considering
any grace period that might be available to the borrower.
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21.

Financial risk management (continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continued):

™)

(vi)

Credit quality analysis (continued)
Determining whether credit risk has been increased significantly (continued)

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk
relative to initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument returns to
being measured as 12-month ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an increase in
credit risk, such as delinquency or forbearance, may be indicative of an increased
risk of default that persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these
cases, the group determines a probation period during which the financial asset is
required to demonstrate good behaviour to provide evidence that its credit risk has
declined sufficiently. When contractual terms of a financial asset have been
modified, evidence that the criteria for recognising lifetime ECL are no longer met
includes a history of up-to-date payment performance against the modified
contractual terms.

Definition of default (Stage 3):

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the company uses the following
indicators:

e  Bankruptcies and liquidations: Failure to pay interest/principal on an interest-
bearing bond or loan, miss payment (principle, interest, or both), past the
grace period.

e  Distressed restructuring: difference between the net present values of cash
flows before and after restructuring arrangements exceeds a certain threshold
the exposure should be classified as defaulted.

¢  Government bail-out: For banks and financial institutions.
Expected credit loss measurement
Incorporation of forward-looking information

The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-
looking information. The group has performed historical analysis and identified the
key economic variables impacting credit risk and expected credit losses for each
portfolio.

These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD, EAD and LGD
vary by financial instrument. Expert judgment has also been applied in this process.
Forecasts of these economic variables (the “base economic scenario™) are provided
by the group’s Finance team on an annual basis and provide the best and worst
estimate view of the economy.
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21.

Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continucd)

(vi) Expected credit loss measurement {continued)

Incorporation of forward-looking information (continued)

The impact of these economic variables on the PD, EAD and LGD has been
determined by performing a trend analysis and comparcd hastorical information
with forecast macro-economic data to determine whether the indicator describes a
positive, negative or stible trend and o understand the impact changes in these
variables have had historically on default rates and on the components of LGD and

In addition 10 the base ceonomic scenario, the group considers other possible
scenarios and scenario weightings. At April 1, 2020, and March 31, 2021, the
group concluded that three seenarios appropriately captured non-lincaritics,  The
scenario weightings are determined by a combination of statistical analysis and
expert credit judgement, taking account of the range of possible oulcomes cach
chosen scenario is representative of.,

As with any cconomic forccasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrenee ar
subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes
may he significantly different to thase projecied. The group comsiders these
forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes and has analysed
the non-lincaritics and asymmetrics within the group®s different porifolios 1o
establish that the chosen scenarios are appropriately representative of the range of
possible scenarios,

Each scenario considers the expected impact of interest rates, unemployment rates
and gross domesiic product (GDP). Appropriate consideration (o the impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic was accorded.

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above
seenarios, such as the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political changes,
have also been considered. but are not deemed to have a material impact and
therefore no adjustment has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is
reviewed and monitored for appropriafieness on a quarterly basis,

Measurement of expected credil losses (ECL)

Historical recovery rate data was compared to a varely of faclors in order 1o
determine correlations between these factors and the amount recovered (as defined
dbove), These correlations were then used to determing the coefficients in 4 non-
lingar factor model which is used for projecting recovery rates and losses
praspectively. The output from this model can be used either on a stand-alone basis
to eslimate recovery by specilic liability class upon defauli, or as inpuls 1o a more
comprehensive portfolio credit risk management system.
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21. Financial risk management (continued)
{a)  Credit risk (continued)
{vi} Txpected credit loss measurement (continued)
Measurement of expected credit losses (ECL) {eontinued)

EATY represents the expected exposure in the event of a default, In preparing
the full lifetime ECL caleulation, the EAD is caleulated at annual intervals
from the tepotting date out o maturity, The reporting date, transaction date and
transaction price are used to calculate the accounting exposure at default. 1f
met provided, an sccounting effective interest rate 1s calculated using the
transaction date and price (see section below for more) and is applied to the
future cash flows of the particular instrument o discount these cash flows.
This is done an an annual basis from reporting date out until maturity.

Loss allowance

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation - such as how the maturity
profile of the PDs and how collateral values change cle, - are monitored and
reviewed on a quarterly basis.

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening to the closing
balance of the loss allowance by class of financial mstrument.

* Long-term loan receivable and resale agreements:

Group and Company
2021

Stape |
1000

Balance at March 31, 2020 1.9531
Met re-measurement of loss allowance {__48)

Balance at March 31, 2021 1903

«  (Other receivahles:
Group and Company

2021
Stage 1

$°000

Balance at March 31, 2020 2.548
Met re-measurement of loss allowance 29
Balance at March 31, 2021 2,577
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21.

Financial risk management (continued)

{a)

(b

(e}

Credit risk {continued)

{vi) [xpected credit loss measurement {continued)

Measurement of expecied credit losses (ECL) feontinued)

*  Debi sccurilics al FYOCT:
Group and Company
2021
Stage |
57000

Balance at March 31, 2020 1,887
Net re-measurement of loss allowance 1.185

Balance at March 31, 2021 702
Ligquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. The group’s approach to managing liquidity is o ensure,
as far as possible, that it will have sufticient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due,
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or
risking damage 1o the group’s repulation,

Typically, the group cnsures thai it has suflicient eash on demand and markelable
securities to meet expected operational expenses, including the servicing of financial
obligations. This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot
reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.

The group’s Tinancial liabilities comprise accounts payable and note payable that are
repavable within one vear at the carrying amount reflected on the statement of
tinancial position,

There were no changes to the group’s approach to liguidity nsk management during
the vear.

Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as [oreign cxchange raics,
interest rates and equity prices, will atfect the group’s and company’s income or the
value of its holdings of finuncial instruments. The objective of market risk
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within accepiable
parameters, while optimising the return on risk. There has been no change to the
group’s exposure to market risk or the manner in which it measures and manages this

risk.
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21.

Financial risk management {continued)

{C)

Market risk (continucd);

(1)

Foreign currency risk:

Foreign currency risk is that the market value of, or the cash flows trom,
[inancial instrumenis will vary because of exchange rale Nuctvations, The
company is exposed to foreign currency risk due to fluctuations in exchange
raics on (ransactions and balances that are denominated in currencics other
than the Jamaica dollar. The main currencies giving rise to this risk are the
United States dollar (USS) and Canadian dollars ($). The company manages
this risk by matching foreign currency assets with foreign currency liahilities,
to the extent practicable, excepl where it undertakes a gapping strategy m
pursuit of exchange rate gains. The net foreign currency exposure is kept to
the targeted levels by buying or selling currencies at spot rates when necessary
{0 address imbalanees,

The group’s and the compuany’s exposure to forelgn currency risk are
materially denominated in United States dollars (US$) and are as follows:

Group and Company

2021 2020
USs3 Us%
('000) {*000)
[nvestments 2811 1.964
Cash and cash cquivalents 155 300
Securities purchased under resale agreements 2,091 2019
Long term and other receivables 213 180
Nole pavable (_750y -
Net foreign currency denominated asscls 4,520 4,463

Sensitivity analysis

A strengthening/weakening of the Jamaica dollar against the United States
dollar at March 31, 2021, would have increascd{decrcased) equity and profi
or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other
variables, in particular interest rales, remain constani. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2020.

Group and Company

2021
Increase Decrease
a Liffect on ke Lifect on
Currency weakening profit or loss strenpthening profit or loss
$1000 57000
LSS 6 39,287 2 {15.0096)
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21. Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Market risk (continued):
(1) Foreign currency risk (continued):
Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Group and Company

2020
Increase Decrease
% Effect on % Effect on
Currency weakening profit or loss strengthening profit or loss
$°000 $7000
USS 6 35,867 2 (11,956)

(ii)  Interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The group
manages this risk by monitoring interest rates daily. Even though there are no
formally predetermined gap limits, where possible and to the extent judged
appropriate, the maturity profile of its financial assets is matched by that of its
financial liabilities; where gaps are deliberately arranged, management
expects that its monitoring will, on a timely basis, identify the need to take

appropriate action to close a gap if it becomes necessary.

Floating rate instruments expose the company to cash flow interest risk,
whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose the company to fair value

interest risk.

The company's interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk
by maintaining an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments. The
policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest-earning financial
assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities. The Board sets limits on the
level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken, which is

monitored by management and the Audit Committee.

77 |



nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Moaies 1o the Financial Statements (Coniinucd)
March 31, 2021

21. Financial risk management (continued)
{c)  Market risk (continucd):
(i) Interest rate risk (continued):

The table below summarises the group's exposure to interest rate risk. Included in the
tahles are the carrying amounts of the group's financial instruments, categorised by the
earlier of contractual repricing and maturity dates,

Group
2021
Nun
31-50 91-365 A6 days Ower 3 inforost
days davs S vears  wvears  bearing Total
Frono 000 7000 Fo00  Frooo Fronn
Assets
Cash and cash
cyuivalents - - - - 34272 347272
Securities purchased under
resale agrecmoen s 20213 282082 - - - 302,895
Investments 55,909 - - 92,091 287194 435,194
Cther receivables - - - - RG4S 28943
Lomg-term receivible - - 16,887 - - 16,887
I'ntal financial assets Th, 122 2RI 6HHD 16 HR7T 92091 350411 RK18.1493
Liubilities
Aceounts payahle - - - - 3169 39169
Mole payahls - 108, 660 - - - 108,660
I'otal financial liabilities - 108660 = - 19169 147829
Inlerest rafe sensilivily gup T 022 174022 16,887 92000 311242 a70.364
Cumlative interesl
sensihivily gup Th 122 250044 26703 35122 470364 -
Laroup
20210

Nan
31-00 a1-3a5 306 days Owerd inferest
days days to S wears  wears  bearing Total
Fron0 5000 31000 Fo00 Frooo Fron0

Assets
Cash and cash
cguivilents - - - - 110,576 110,576
Securities purchased under
resale agregmenis 2002 303 Bh Y9 Th - - - 264 281
Invesiments - - 138,469 - 140,685 279,154
(rher receivables - - = - 24630 24,4650
Long-term receivible - - 18,658 - - 18,658
‘I'otal tinancial assets 202 303 B6Y976 137137 - 275011 Fu2 b
Liabilities
Accounts payable - - - - 55914 33914
Todal financiul habilities - - - - 55014 53914
Interest rate sensitivity pap 202,305 66970 157.127 - 219997 646,403

Cumulative nferest
sensitivity gap 2082 305 2HLIRT 426 40E 426408 646 405 -
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21.

Financial risk management (continued)

{c)
(ii)

Market risk {continued):

Interest rate risk {continued):

Assets
Cash and vash
equivalents
Sevurilies purchased inder
resale agrecments
Investments
Olher receivables
Long-term receivable

Tulal Gnancial vssels

Liabilities
Accounts pavable
Nate pavable
Tuolal nanecial linkilitics
Interest rate sengitivity gap

Cumulative interest
sensitivity gap

Assets
Cash and cash
vijuivalenls
Securities purchased under
resale apreements
Investments
Other receivahles
[ong-terin recenvahle

Total financial assets
Liabilities

Accounts payahle

Total financial liabilitics

Interes! mie sensilivily gap

Cumulative interest
sensilivily gap

Company
2021
Nun
31-5 91-363 oo davs  Ower 5 intercst
davs davs to 5 years  years  Dearing l'otal
SO0H) 31000 1000 SOG0 SO0 SO0
- - - - 23794 25794
2213 282682 - - - 302,895
35009 - . L2091 287,194 435194
- - - - 41,834 41834
- - LEnsT - - 16,487
76,122 2R2.6E2 16,887 92,001 354822 B22.604
- - - - 41,083 41,083
- 1018 600 - - - 105 660
- 108,660 - - 41,083 149743
TAIZZ 174022 16EHT U091 3137V ATIHG]
Th122 2500144 ZRT031T 0 339122 AT R6] -
Company
2020
Non
3180 91365 366 davs Owver 5 interest
davs duvsy L 3 yeurs  yeurs  buaring Tolal
VLN 7000 SO RYCH STy SR
- - - - 104,183 104,183
202,305 6,076 - - - 26hY 2%
- - 138,469 - 140,685 279,154
- - - - 3770 3rTs0
. - 14,654 . N 14,658
202305 Hh09Th 157127 - ZHI AR TOYU3AH
- - - - STRIY S7.HIO
- - - - 57,829 27829
202,305 66976 157,127 - 224,789 651,197
202,305 269381 426408 426408 651,197 -
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21. Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Market risk (continued):
(ii))  Interest rate risk (continued):
The table below summarises the weighted average interest rate by major

currencies for interest-bearing financial instruments of the group at the
reporting date:

Group and Company
2021 2020
US$ US$
% %
Assets
Securities purchased under
resale agreements 3.00 2.57
Investments 4.74 7.98
Long-term loan receivable 4.00 4.00

The group minimises interest rate risk by investing mainly in fixed rate
securities and contracting liabilities at fixed rates, where possible. There are
no variable rate instruments.

Profile

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the group’s interest-bearing
financial instruments was:

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 440,383 406,130 440,383 406,130
Financial liabilities 108,660 - 108,660 -

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

The group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the
reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

An increase of 100 or decrease of 100 (2020: An increase of 100 or decrease
of 100) basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have
increased/decreased equity by $4,403,000 for the group and company (2020:
increased/decreased equity by $4,061,000 for the group and company). This
analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates,
remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020.
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21.

Financial risk management (continued)

(©)

(d)

Market risk (continued):
(i1)  Interest rate risk (continued):
Equity price risk

The Board monitors the mix of debt and equity securities in its investment
portfolio based on market expectations. This risk is managed by the
monitoring of the market value of the securities on the Jamaica Stock
Exchange (JSE) and other foreign stock exchanges and the respective
companies’ quarterly financial performance.

Sensitivity analysis — equity price risk

Most of the group’s equity investments are listed on foreign market stock
exchanges. A 5% or (5%) [2020: 5% or (10%)] increase or decline in the
relevant indexes at the reporting date would have an increase of $4,145,000
or a decrease of $4,145,000 for the group and company [2020: $5,379,000 or
a decrease of $2,689,000 for the group and company].

Fair values:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date and is best evidenced by a quoted market price, if one exists.

The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted market price at the
reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs. Where a quoted market
price is not available, the fair value of the instrument is estimated using pricing
models or discounted cash flows or a generally accepted alternative method.

FVOCI financial assets include corporate bonds, quoted equities and unquoted
equities.

The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities are assumed to approximate
to their carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position due to their
short-term nature and no loss on realisation or discount on settlement is anticipated.

Basis for determining fair values

Quoted equities are valued using the quoted market bid prices listed on the Jamaica
Stock Exchange and other foreign stock exchanges at the reporting date.

81|



nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Notes to the Finuncial Statements (Continued)
March 31,2021

21. Financial risk management {continued)

(d)  Tair values (continued):

Basis for determining fair valuces {continned)

Other investments are valued using the market-based approach and are classified as

level 2 on the tair value hierarchy.

Cash and cash equivalents, securities purchased under resale agreements, trade and
other reeeivable, note payable and accounis payahbles arce assesscd 1o approximaice
their carrying values due to their relatively short-term nature and are classitied as

level 2 in the Fair value hierarchy.

Long-term receivables are carried at amortised cost.

No items were reclassificd from onc level (o another,

Accounting classifications and fair values

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include
tair value information tor financial assets and financial habilities not measured at fair
value if the carrving amount 1s 4 reasonable approximation of Fair value.

Group and Company

2021
Carrving amounts Fair values
Aanurlised
cusl IR TVWTPrL Tl Level | Level 2 Totul
S0 5000 000 300 B0 5000 700
Financial assets messured
al fair value:
Invesiments - 233872 SO0 423,892 82,897 240,595 EXRTEW
Financial assets measnred not
at fair value:
Inveslmentls 11,302 - - 11302 - 11,302 11302
Securities purchased under cesale
aEreement 302,895 - - 02,593 2 117 RUEN
314097 - ild.fo7 - 1410 15419
Group and Company
2020
Carrving amounts Fair values
Amortised
cist EvOl VT PL I'ntal Lavel 1 Level 2 lieatzal
SO0 SO0 L] F00 SO0 SO0 S0
Financial assets measured
at fair value:
Inveslments - 143,577 BOLEE2 226419 53,793 L7262 226419
Financial assers measured not
at fair value:
Investments 52735 - - 52,735 - 52,735 R2T3E
Securities purchassd under resule
aereernenl 2a9 281 - - 2a9. 281 - 270,521 270,521
ix2aole - = i2nale - 223256 223256
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21.

22.

Financial risk management (continued)

(e) Capital management:

The group’s objective is to maintain a strong capital base so as to safeguard the
group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide

returns for stockholders and benefits for other stakeholders.

The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital which the group defines as
share capital, capital reserves, fair value reserves and retained profits. The group may
adjust or maintain the capital structure by adjusting the amount of dividends paid to

stockholders.

There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the

year.

Disposal of subsidiaries

In the prior year, the company petitioned to strike off Selectco Publications Limited from

the company register.

The effect of the strike off is as follows:

Trade receivables
Taxation recoverable
Cash and cash equivalent
Trade payables

Net assets liquidated
Currency translation differences realised on liquidation

Loss on liquidations and strike-offs of subsidiaries

Interest in subsidiaries
Distribution including write off of related party balances

Loss on liquidations and strike-offs of subsidiaries

Group
2020

$°000

83|



nvesmenrs 1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

LIMITED

1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

MNotes to the Financial Statements {Continued)
March 31, 2021

23,

Related parties

(a)

(b)

(<)

(d)

Identity of related parties:

The group has a related party relationship with its associate and special purpose entity
(see note 1) and with its directors and executive officers in the ordinary course of
business.

Transactions with key management personnel:
In addition to salaries, the group provides non-cash benefits to executive officers.

The key management personnel compensation 15 as follows,

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
F1000 5000 £ 000 F1000
Short-term henefits 16,033 12,501 16,033 12,501

The amounts disclosed in the table above arc the amounts recogmiscd as an cxpense
during the reporting period related to key management personnel. There were no other
transactions with key management personnel.

The statement of financial position includes balances from amm’s length transactions
arising in the ordinary coursc of busingss, with the associated company and other
related entities as follows:

Company
2021 2020

5000 $'000

Accounts pavable:

Associated company - 3.570

Other related entities 9,031 12.472
Accounts reccivable,

(ther related entities 14,308 14,308
Mvidend paid:

(xther related entities 1.407 2.75%

The income statement includes arm’s length transactions arising in the ordinary
course of business with other relaled entitics as follows:

Company
2021 2020

000 F00n
Dividend income:

Associated company 25,312 -

Shared services fee:

Oiher related entities (_3.768) (_3.768)
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24,

25.

Operating leases - lessor

Pursuant to the March 24, 2016 scheme of arrangement between Radio Jamaica Limited
(collectively “RJR Gleaner”) and 1834 Investments Limited, the building at 7 North Street
and parking lots at East Street and John’s Lane, being investment properties, were leased to
RIJR Gleaner for fifteen years.

(a) Future minimum lease payments:

Company
2021 2020
$ $
Less than one year 100,000 100,000
Between one and five years 500,000 500,000
More than five years 500,000 600,000

(b)  All property rental and maintenance expenses are borne by the lessee.

Significant accounting policies

The group has consistently applied the accounting policies as set out below to all periods
presented in these financial statements.

(a) Basis of consolidation:
(i)  Business combinations:

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the
acquisition date, which is at the date on which control is transferred to the
group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

e the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

e the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquired
entity; plus

* if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-
existing interest in the acquired entity; less

e the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed.
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25. Significant accounting policics (continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation {continued):

(ii)

(iii)

{iv)

(v)

Business combinations {continuead):

When the excess 18 negative, a bargain purchase gain 18 recognised
immediately in profit ar loss.

The consideration transferred docs not include amounts relaied 1o the
settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts generally are recognised
in profit or loss. Any contingent consideration payable 1s measured al Tair value
at the acquisition date.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity
securities, that the group incurs in connection with a business combination are
expensed as incurred,

Subsidiaries:

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group controls an entity
when it is cxposcd (o, or has rights 10, variable returns from ils involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. The Onancial statements of subsidiaries are included in the
consalidated financial statements from the date on which contral commences
until the date on which control ceases.

These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial results of the
company and its associates (note 6).

Loss of control:

On the loss of control, the group derccogmses the assets and liabalitics of the
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity
relaied to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of conirol is
recognised in profit or loss. If the group retains any interest in the former
subsidiary, then such interest is measured at Gur value at the date that control 15
lost,

Associale:

The group’s imterest in equity-accounted investees comprise interest in
associale,

An associale 18 an entity in which the group has significant influence, but not
control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is
presumed o cxist when the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voiing
power of the entity.

Interest in associate 15 accounted Tor vsing the equity method. Ti s initially
recognised at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial
statements include the group’s share of the profit or loss of the associate, until
the date on which significant influence or joint cantrol ceases.
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25. Significant accounting policies (continued)
{a) Basis of consolidation (continued):
{¥i) Transactions eliminated on consolidation:

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses
arising from intra-group transuction, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising
from fransaction with cquity-accounted invesiee are climinated against the
investment to the extent of the group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised
losses are climinated in the same way as unrealised gains, bul only o the exient
that there is no evidence of impairment.

A husiness combination involving entities or businesses under commaon control
is 4 business combination in which all of the combining entities or businesses
are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both betore and atter the
combination, and thal control 1s not transitory. The group applies book value
(carry-over basis) accounting for business combinations for entities under
common control in the consolidated financial statements on the basis that the
investiment has been moved [rom one part of the group (o another.

(by  Property, plant and equipment:
{1}  Owned assets:

ltems of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and  imparment losses, Cost includes expenditures that are
directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct
labour, plus related borrowing costs and any other costs directly attributable to
bringing the assei (o a working condition for its intended use.

The cost of replacing part of an diem of properly, plani and cquipment 1s
recognised in the carrving amount of the item if it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodied with the part will flow to the group and ity costs
can be measured reliably. The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant
and equipment are recogmsed in profit or loss as incurred.

(i) Leased assets:

Leases, under the terms of which the group assumes substantially all the risks
and rcwards of owncrship are classificd as linance leascs. Asscls acquired
under finance leasing arrangements are measured at an amount equal to the
lower of their fuir value and the present value of the minimum lease payments
at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.
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Significant

accounting policies (continued)

{by  Property, plant and cquipment {continued):

(iif)

Depreciation:

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis ar annual
rales estimated (o write down the asscls to their residual values over their
expected useful lives. The depreciation rates are as tollows:

Machinery & equipment - 10%, 1244%, 20% and 25%
Compuier cquipment - 25%

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at
each reporting date.

{c)  Financial instruments:

EY)

Financial instruments — Classification, recognition, derecognition and
medsurement

A finaneial insirument is any comtract that gives rise toa [inancial assel of ong
entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. In these
financial statements:

»  Financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, securities purchased
under resale agreements, investments and other receivables,

+ [Financial liabilities comprise accounts payable and note pavable.

Financial insirumcnis are classified, recognised and measurcd in accordance
with the substance of the terms of the contracts as set out herein.

{i} Recognition and initial measurement

The group recognises a financial instrument when it becomes a party to
the coniractual terms of the instrument, The group initially recognises
other receivables on the date when they are originated. All other financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised on the trade date.

Al initial recognition, the group measurcs a lnancial assel or [nancial
liability at its tair value, plus or minus; the case of a financial asset or
finameial Liability not at fair value through profit or loss transaction costs
that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions.
Transaction cosis of financial asscls and financial liabilitics carried al fair
value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance
(ECL} is rccogniscd for financial asscls measured al amoriised cost and
investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results in an
accounting loss being recognised n profit or loss when an asset 1s newly
ariginated.
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(c)

(i)

(i)

Financial instrumenis (continued):

Recognition and iniiial measurement

When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market Tor an
identical asset or liability (i.e. a level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique
that uscs only data from observable markeis, the difference is recognised as a
2ain or loss.

In all other cases, the difference is deferred, and the timing of recognition of
deferred day one profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised
aver the lite of the instrument, deterred until the instrument’s fair value can be
determined using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.

Classification and subsequent remeasurement

The group has applied IFRS 9 and classified 1ts fnancial assets in the following
measurement categories:

+  Fairvalue through profit or loss (FVTPLY,
+  Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVQCI); or
+ Amortised cosl,

Financial assets

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described
below:

(a}  Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a
financial liability from the issuer’s perspective, such as loans,
government and corporate bonds.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on:

o the group’s business model for managing the asset; and

» the cash Mow characterisiics of the assct,

Bascd on these factors, the group classifics its debt instruments inlo one
of the following three measurement categories:

s Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
Nows where those cash Hows represent solely paymenis of principal
and interest (SPPI), and that are not designated at FVWTPL, are
measured at amortised cost. The carmying amount of these assets 1s
adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and
measured as described at (vi) Interest income from these financial
assets is included in “Tnterest and similar income’ using the etfective
interest method.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

Financial insiroments (continued):
(i} Classification and subsequent remeasurement (continued)

Financial assets {continued)

The classification requircments Tor debt and equity insttuments are deseribed

below {continued):

{a) Dbt instrumenis (continucd)

s Fair value through other comprehensive ircome (FYOCT: Financial
assels that are held for colleetion of contractual cash Nows and for
selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and intercst, and that are not designated at
FVWTPL are measured at tair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCT),

s Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FYOCT are measurcd at fair value through
profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subscquently measured al [air value through profit or lass and 15 nat
part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and
presented in the profit or loss statement within operating income’ in
the period in which it arises. Interest income from these financial
assels 1s included in Coperating mcome” using the clfcetive interest
method.

Business model: the business model reflects how the group manages the
assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, whether the group’s
ohjective is solely o colleetl the contractual cash flows from the asscis or
is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from
the salc of asscts, IM neither of these is applicable (c.g. inancial asscts arc
held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part
of ‘other’ business model and measured at FVTPL,

Factors considered by the group in determining the business model for a
group of assets include:

1. Pasi cxpericnce on how the cash flows for thesc asscls were
collected;

How the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key
management personnel;

e

-

3. How risks are assessed and managed; and
4, How managers are compensated.

For example, securities held for trading are held principally tor the
purpose of sclling in the near lerm or are pari of a portfolio of financial
instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. These securities are
classified in the “other’ business model and measured at FVTPL,
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{c} Financial instruments {continued):
(i) Classification and subscquent remeasurement {(continued}
Financial assets (continued)
(a) Debt instruments (continuad)

Sorlely pavments of principal and interest (SPPI): Where the business
muodel 1s to hold assets to collect contractual cash fows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the company assesses whether the
financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and inicrest (the *SPPI test”). In making this asscssment, the group
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic
lending arrangement 1., mterest includes only consideration for the time
value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin
that is consistent with a buasic lending arrangement. Where the
contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or wvolatility that are
inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset
15 classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, Financial
assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirely when
determining whether their cash Mows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

The group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business
madel Tor managing those asscis changes. The reclassificaiion takes
Mace from the start of the first reporting period following the change,
Such changes are expected to be very infrequent and none oceurred
during the period.

(b}  FEguity instruments

Lquity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity
from the 1ssuer’s perspective; that 1s, instruments that do not contain a
contraciual obligation 1o pay and that evidence a residual interest in the
issuer’s net assets.

The group subsequently measures all equity investments at thir value
through profit or loss, except where the group’s management has clecled,
at initial recognition, to irevocably designate an equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income,

(iii) Derecognition

The group dercecognises a (inancial assci when the coniractual rights 1o the cash
flows from the financial asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the
contraciual cash flows in a transaction i which substaniially all of the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the
group neither trunsfers nor retains substantially all of the nisks and rewurds of
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.
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(©)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued):

(ii1) Derecognition (continued)

(iv)

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset
derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any cumulative gains or losses recognised in OCI in respect of equity
investment securities designated as at FVOCI is not recognised in profit or loss
on derecognition of such securities. Any interest in transferred financial assets
that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the group is
recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expired.

Financial instruments - other
(1) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents, which comprise cash and bank balances and
include short-term deposits, with maturities ranging between one and
three months of acquisition date, are measured at amortised cost. For the
purpose of the statement of cash flows, bank overdraft is included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents.

(2) Securities purchased under resale agreements:
Securities purchased under resale agreements (“reverse repurchase or
resale agreements”) are accounted for as short-term collateralised lending
and are classified as amortised cost.
On initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the purchase cost and the resale consideration is
recognised in profit or loss as interest income over the life of the contract
using the effective interest method.

(3)  Other receivables:

These are measured at amortised cost, less impairment losses.
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25.  Significant accounting policics (continued)

(c)

Financial instruments {continued):

{1v) Financial instruments — other {continued)

(v)

{4)  Accounts payable and provisions:

Accounts payable, including provisions, are measured al amortised cost,
A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the
company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outtlow of economic benetits will be required to
scille the obligation and a reliable estimatc of the amount can be made. IF
the eftect is material. provisions are determined by discounting the
expected future cash flows at 4 pre-tax rate that reflects current murlet
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks
specific to the liability.

Impairmeni:

The group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the
following financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:

- financial asscts that arc debt instruments; and
- lease receivables.

The proup measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL,
cxeept for the following, Tor which they arc measured as 12-month ECL,

- debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date; and

- other [inancial instruments (other than 1¢ase receivables) on which credit
risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition.

Loss allowances for lease receivables are always measured at an amount equal
ta lifetime BCL.

The group considers a debt investment to have low credit risk when its credit
risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of *investment
arade’. The group docs nol apply (he low credit nsk cxemplion 1o any other
financial instruments.

[2-month ECL are the portion of ECL that resull from defaull cvenis on a
financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is recognised arc
referred to as *Stage 1 financial instruments’,

Lifetime ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of the financial instrument. Financial instruments for which a
lifetime ECL is recognised but which are not credit-impaired are referred to as
“Stage 2 Npancial mstruments’,
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25. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(¢} Financial instruments (continued ):
{v) Tmpairment (continued):

Measurement of FCL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as
follows:

- financial asscis thal arc noi credit-impaired atl the reporling dale: as the
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference hetween the cash
flows due to the entily n accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the group expects o reecive); and

- financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the
difference between the gross carrving amount and the present value of
catimated future cash Mows,

Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing
financial asset is replaced with a new one dug (o fnancial difficultics of the
borrower, then an assessment is made of whether the financial asset should be
derecognised and ECL are measured as follows:

- Il the cxpeeted resiructuring will not resull in derecognition of the existing
asset, then the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial
assel are included in caleulating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.

- If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing
assel, then the expected fair value of the new asset 1s treated as the final
cash flow from the existing financial asset at the time of its derecognition.
This amount 15 included n caleulating the cash shortfalls from the existing
financial assel that are discounted from the expected date of derceognition
to the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the
cxisting financial assci.

Credit-impaived financial assets

At each reporting date, the group assesses whether financial assets carried at
amortised costs are credit-impaired (referred to as “Stage 3 financial assets™). A
financial asscl is ‘credit-impaired” when one or more cvenis thai have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have oceurred.

Evidence that a fnancial asset is credit-impaired meludes the following
obscrvable data:

- significant fnancial difficulty of the borrower or 1ssucr;

- ahreach of contract such as a default or past due event;

- the restructuring of 4 loan or advance by the group on terms that the
company would not consider otherwisc;
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(¢} Financial instruments {continued):
(v)  TImpairment (continued):

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bunkruptey or other
[inaneial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial
dilTicultics.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower's
condition is usually considered to he credit-impaired unless there is evidence
that the nsk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced significantly
and there are no other indicators of impairment, In addition, a loan that is
overdue tor 90 days or more is considered credit-impaired.

In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-
mmpaired, the group considers the Tollowing fuetors,

- The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond
viclds,

- The rating agencies” assessments of creditworthiness.

- The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.

- The probahility of the debt being restructured, resulting in holders
suffering losses through voluntary or mandatory debt forgiveness,

- The international support mechanisms in place o provide the necessury
support as ‘lender of last resort” o thal country, as well as the infention,
reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to use those
mechanisms, This includes an assessment of the depth ol those
mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent, whether there is the
capacity to fulfil the required criteria,

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the stateinent of financial position

Allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as
follows;

- fnancial assets messured at amortised cost; as a deduction from the gross
carrying amoaunt of the asscts.

- debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in
the statement of financial position because the carrying amount of these
assets is their fair value. Mowever, the loss is recognised in profit or loss
us i reclassification from OCL
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{c)  Tinancial instruments (continued):

(v} Impaimment {continued):
Write-off

Loans and debt securities are written oft (either partially or in full) when there
is no reasonable expeclation of recovering a Mnancial assct in its colircty or a
portion thereof,

This 15 generally the case when the proup determines that the borrower does not
have assets ar sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the
individual asset level

Recoverics of amounts previously written off are included in “impairment
lasses on financial instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss and OCL

Financial assets that are written oft could still be subject to enforcement
activities in order to comply with the group’s procedures for recovery of
amounts duc.

An impairment loss is reversed, if the reversal can be related objectively 1o an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost and available-for-sale financial assets that are debt
securities, the reversal is recognised in profit or loss,

{d)y Taxation:
(1) Ineome tax:

Ineome tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case, it is
reeognised in other comprehensive income,

Cuwrrent tax is the expected tax pavable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates cnacted al the reporiing date, and any adjustment 10 (ax payable
in respect of previous years.

(i) Deferred tax:

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary ditferences between the
caying amounts of assets and labilites for Anancial reporing purposes and
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the
following temporary differences: the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial
recognilion of asscts or liabilitics in a iransaction thal is nol a busincss
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss,
differences relaiing (o investments in subsidiaries, 1o the cxbent that 1t is
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future and investment
property held inside a realisation-from-sale business model.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

{dy Taxation (comtinued):

(e)

(ii)

Deferred tux (continued):

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses. tax credits and
deductible temporary differences (o the ¢xtent that 1t 18 probable that futurce
taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax
asscls are reviewed al cach reporting date and arc reduced (o the extent that it is
no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the
temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been
enacted as at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities against
current fax asscls, and they relale to income faxes levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different taxable entities, but they
intend to settle current tax linbilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets
and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A specific measurement requirement applies to a deferred tax asset or liability
that arises from investment property measured at fair value, This requirement
csiablishes a rebuitable presumption that the carrying amount of invesiment
property measured at tair value will be recovered through sale. Therefore,
unless the presumption is rebutted, the measurement of a deferred tax asset or
liability pertaining to the investment property reflects the tax consequences of
recovering the carrving amount of the investment property entirely through
sale.

The presumpiion 15 rebutied if the investment property 18 depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to conswme substantially all
the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over ime, rather
than through sale. Tf the presumption is rebutted, then the normal requirements
of measuring deferred tax assets or labilities are applicable.

Revenue recognition:

Revenue is income that arises in the cowse of the ordinary activities of the group.
Accordingly, revenue comprises inlerest income, renial income, dividend income and
other investment returns.,

(i)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss for using the effective interest
method. The “effective interest rate” is the rate that exactly discounts the
cslimaled future receipts through the expected life of the financial instruments
to its gross carrying amount.
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25.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e)

(0

Revenue recognition (continued):
(i) Interest income (continued):

When caleulating the effective interest rate lor [inancial mstrumenis, the group
estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument, but not ECL.

The calculation of the eflfective interest rale ncludes transaction costs and fees
and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
Trunsaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of a financial asset.

The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial
asset is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or
minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for
finaneial ussets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance,

The “gross carving amount of a fnancial asset’ 1s the amortised cost of a
financial asset betore adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance,

The effeetive interest rale of a financial assct is caleulaied on indtial recognition
of a financial asset. In calculating interest income, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset 1s not credit-
impaired), The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-
estimation of cash flows of floating rate nstruments to reflect movements in
market rates of interest.

Interest income calculated vsing the effcctive interest methad presented in the
statement of profit or loss and OCI includes interest on tinancial assets
measured at amortised cost,

(ii)  Rental income is recognised as the related services are consumed.

{iii) Dividend income is recognised on the date the group’s right to receive payment
is established.

Foreign currencics:

Foreign currency balances outstanding at the reporting date are translated at the rates
of exchange ruling on that date [US$1 = JE144 88 (2020; J$133.96)]. Transactions n
foreigh currencies are converted at the rates of exchange ruling at the dates of those
transactions.

Gains and losses arising [rom [uetuations in exchange rates are included in profit or
loss. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, all foreign currency gains and
losses recognised in profit or loss are treated as cash items and included in cash Hows
from operating or financing activities along with movements in the principal
balances.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g

(h)

Tmpairmeni of non-financial asscls:

The carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each
reporting date o determing whether there is any indication of impairment, IT any such
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised, if the carrving amount of an asset or its cash-
generaling unii cxceeds ils recoverable amount. A cash-gencraiing umit is the smallest
identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent from
other assets und groups. Impainuent losses are recognised in profit or loss,

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value
in use and its tair value, less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated
tuture cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects currenl market assessments of the fime value of moeney and the risks
specific to the asset.

In respect of other assets, impairment losses recagnised in prior periods are assessed
at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer
exists. An impairment loss is reversed, it there has been a change in the estimates
used (o detenmine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss 1s reversed only to the
cxtent that the asscl’s carrying amount docs not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, it no impairment
loss has been recognised.

Investment properties:

Investment properties, comprising principally land and buildings, are held for long-
term rental yields and capital appreciation and are treated as long-ierm investments.
They are measured initially at cost, including related transaction costs and are
subsequently measured at fair value. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair
value is recognized in protit or loss,

Fair value 15 based on active marketl prices, adjusted, il necessary, for any dilTercnce
in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. The fair value of investment
property reflects, among other things, rental meome from current leases and
assumptions about rental income from tuture leases in light of current market
conditions, The fair valuc also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash oulfllows that
could be expected in respect of the property, Fair value 1s determined annually by an
independent registered valuer.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset's carryving amount only when 1t 15
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance cosis are charged lo income during the financial period in which they
are incurred.
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25,

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i}

New and amended standards and interpretations notl yet clfeetive:

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet
cifeeiive, up o the date of issuance of the group's financial siaiemenis arc discloscd
below, if they are expected to have an impact on the group’s financial statements.
The group mitends (o adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations, 16
applicable, when they become etfective.

(i)

(ii)

Amendments to TAS | Presemtation of Financial Statements, will apply
retrospectively for annual reporting pericds beginning on or after 1 Junuary
2023, The amendments promote consistency in application and clarity the
requirements on determining if a lability is current or non-curent.

Under existing LAS 1 requirements, companies classify a liability as current
when they do not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting peniod. As part of its
amcendmenis, the requirement for a right o be unconditional has been removed
and instead. the standard requires that a right to defer settlement must have
substance and cxist at the end of the reporting period. An enlity classifics a
liability as non-current if it has a right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months alicer the reporting petiod. It has now been clarified that a right to defor
exists only it the entity complies with conditions specified in the loan agreement
at the reporting date, even il the lender does not test compliance untl a later
date.

With the amendments, convertible instruments may become current, In light of
this, the amendments clarify how an entity classifies a liability that includes a
counterparty conversion opiion, which could be recognised as either equily or a
liability separately from the liability component under TAS 32, Generally, it a
linbility has any conversion options that involve a transfer of the entity’s own
cguity instrumenis, these would affeet its classification as currenl or non-
current. It has now been clarified that an entity can ignore only those conversion
options that arc rceognised as cquily when classifying liabilitics as currcnl or
non-current.

The group does not expect the amendments to have a significant impact on its
2024 finuncial statements,

Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3

In May 2020, the TASE issucd Amendments (o IFRS 3 Business Combinationy -
Reference to the Conceptual Framewnrk. The amendments are intended to
replace a reference (o the Framework for the Preparation and Presenfalion of
Financial Statements, issued in 1989, with a reference to the Concepfual
Framework for Financial Repording issued in March 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)

New and amended standards and interpretations not yet effective (continued):

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(Continued)

The Board also added an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 to
avoid the issue of potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising for liabilities and
contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21
Levies, if incurred separately.

At the same time, the Board decided to clarify existing guidance in IFRS 3 for
contingent assets that would not be affected by replacing the reference to the
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2022 and apply prospectively.

The group does not expect the amendments to have a significant impact on its
2022 financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and for the
purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous, clarifies those costs that
comprise the costs of fulfilling the contract.

The amendments clarify that the ‘costs of fulfilling a contract’ comprise both the
incremental costs — e.g. direct labour and materials; and an allocation of other
direct costs — e.g. an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract.

This clarification will require entities that apply the ‘incremental cost’ approach
to recognise bigger and potentially more provisions. At the date of initial
application, the cumulative effect of applying the amendments is recognised as
an opening balance adjustment to retained earnings or other component of
equity, as appropriate. The comparatives are not restated.

The group does not expect the amendments to have a significant impact on its
financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Fees in the *10 per cent’ test for derecognition
of financial liabilities

As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process, the
IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 9. The amendment clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial
liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial
liability.
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25.

26.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)

New and amended standards and interpretations not vet effective (continued):

(iv) (Continued)

(v)

These fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on the
other's behall, An cntity applies the amendmeni lo financial liabilitics that arc
maodified or exchanged on or after the beginning ot the annual reporting period
in which the entity first applies the amendment.

The umendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2022, with carlicr adoption permitted. The group must apply the
amendments to financial liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after
the beginning of the annual reparting period in which the catily Grst applics the
amendment.

The aroup does not expect the amendments to have a significant impact on its
2022 fnancial statements.

Cinerons Contracts — Costs of Fulfitling a Contract — Amendments to 1AS 37 [n
May 2020, the TASB issucd amendments (o IAS 37 (o specily which costs an
entity needs to include when assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-
making.

The amendments apply a “directly related cost approach”™. The costs that relate
dircetly 10 a coniract lo provide goods or services include both incremenial costs
and an allocation of costs directly related to contract activities. (General and
adminisirative costs do not relaie dircelly 1o a coniract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginming on or afer 1
Jaruary 2022, The group will apply these amendments to contracts for which it
has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting
pericd in which it first applies the amendments.

The group docs not expeet the amendments (0 have a signilicant impact on its
2022 financial statements except possibly for additional disclosures.

Capital management

For the purpose of the group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital and all
other equity reserves atrributable to the equity holders of the parent. The group manages its
capital struciure and makes adjustments in light of changes in ceconomic conditions and the

requirements of the financial covenants. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
group tmay adjust the dividend payment (o sharchalders, return capital to sharcholders or
issue new shares. The primary objective of the group’s capital management is to ensure
that it maintains a strong credit rating. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or

processes during the vears ended March 31,2021 and March 31, 2020,
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27. Events after the reporting period

The company performed a review of events subsequent to the balance sheet date, through
the date the financial statements were issued, and determined that there were no events
requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial statements.
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DECLARATION OF NUMBER OF STOCK UNITS OWNED BY DIRECTORS, OFFICERS
& CONNECTED PERSONS AS AT MARCH 31, 2021:

NAMES PERSONAL SHAREHOLDINGS
SHAREHOLDINGS OF CONNECTED
PARTIES
DIRECTORS
Joseph M. Matalon - Chairman 23,572,020 70,056,104
Douglas R. Orane - Vice Chairman 823,381 230,172
Carol D. Archer 58,320 -
Lisa G. Johnston 3,732 21,296
Elizabeth A. Jones - -
Monica Ladd - 434,557,600
Morin M. Seymour 50,000 -
John J. Issa - Honorary Chairman - 23,374,832
SENIOR MANAGERS
Terry A. Peyrefitte 1,834 -
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LIST OF (10) LARGEST BLOCKS OF STOCK UNITS AS AT MARCH 31, 2021:

SHAREHOLDER SHARES | | -H-PR A
Financial & Advisory Services Limited 369,239,880 30.48%
MF&G Asset Management Ltd. - Jamaica Investments Fund 89,520,000 7.39%
Kaytak Investments Limited 68,669,862 5.67%
Oliver F. Clarke (deceased) 65,317,720 5.39%
JN Bank Limited 46,425,529 3.83%
Gleaner Co Ltd Employees Investment Trust 35,177,342 2.90%
National Insurance Fund 32,883,010 2.71%
The Gleaner Company Ltd Pension Scheme 30,000,000 2.48%
Sagicor Pooled Equity Fund 25,000,000 2.06%
Jason Carl Carby 25,000,000 2.06%
TOTAL 787,233,343 64.99%
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1834 INVESTMENTS LIMITED

(FORMERLY THE GLEANER COMPANY LIMITED)
FORM OF PROXY

() 7O

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held
on the 14" day of December, 2021 at 10:30 a.m. at the registered office of the Company, 7 North Street,
Kingston, and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We desire this form to be used for/against the resolutions as indicated below.
1[0 =Y (0] (=T £ T USSP
Signed this ......cccoiiiei day Of e 2021

RESOLUTIONS FOR | AGAINST
RESOLUTION 1

RESOLUTION 2

RESOLUTION 3

RESOLUTION 4

RESOLUTION 5

RESOLUTION 6

(Please refer to Notice of Meeting for text of resolutions)

NOTES:

(1) A Proxy need not be a member of the Company.

(2) If the appointee is a Corporation this form must be under its Common Seal or under the hand of an
officer of the Corporation duly authorised on its behalf.

(3) In the case of joint holders the vote of the senior shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the
joint holders. Seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of
members.

(4) To be valid this form must be completed and deposited with the Secretary, 1834 Investments Limited,
7 North Street, Kingston at least 48 hours before the time appointed for the meeting or adjourned
meeting.

(5) An adhesive stamp of $100.00 must be affixed to the form and cancelled.
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